From Department of Women's and Children's Health, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

HPV AND POTENTIAL PROGNOSTIC MARKERS IN PRIMARY VAGINAL CARCINOMA

Cecilia Ranhem



Stockholm 2022

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB, 2022 © Cecilia Ranhem, 2022 ISBN: 978-91-8016-541-9 Cover illustration: Maja Sten

HPV AND POTENTIAL PROGNOSTIC MARKERS IN PRIMARY VAGINAL CARCINOMA

THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

Cecilia Ranhem

The thesis will be defended in public at Torsten Gordh Auditorium, Solna, 5th of May 2022.

Principal Supervisor: Professor Sonia Andersson Karolinska Institutet Department of Women's and Children's Health Division of Neonatology, Obstetrics and Gynecology

Co-supervisors: Dr Kristina Hellman Karolinska Institutet Department of Gynecologic cancer, ME Pelvic cancer, Theme cancer

Associate Professor David Lindquist Umeå University Department of Clinical Sciences

Associate Professor emerita Ann-Cathrin Hellström Karolinska Institutet

Associate Professor Gabriella Lillsunde Larsson Örebro University School of Health Sciences *Opponent:* Dr Kate Cuschieri University of Edinburgh Centre for Reproductive Health

Examination Board: Professor Galina Selivanova Karolinska Institutet Department of Microbiology, Tumor and Cell Biology

Associate Professor Nina Bohm-Starke Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Sciences, Danderyd Hospital Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology

Professor emeritus Jan Hirsch Uppsala University Department of Surgical Sciences, Odontology, and Maxillofacial Surgery

To my amazing family,

POPULAR SCIENCE SUMMARY OF THE THESIS

Vaginal cancer is a rare disease that accounts for about 2% of all gynecological malignancies. Knowledge concerning this disease is limited, in part because it is so uncommon. The disease mainly affects older women, mean age about 65 years, although about 15% of such patients are under age 50. Squamous cell carcinoma is the most common type and is usually located in the upper part of the vagina. About one third of patients are diagnosed with metastatic disease and such cases have a worse prognosis. Generally, the prognosis in vaginal cancer is worse than that associated with other gynecological tumor diseases, with a five-year survival rate of about 50%-60%.

The disease is usually treated with a combination of radiation therapy and chemotherapy. Treatment strategies are based on those for cervical cancer since vaginal cancer is similar in many ways. No recommendations for customized individual treatment have been formulated based on known prognostic factors, for which reason overtreatment and undertreatment may contribute to adverse outcomes.

Vaginal cancer is often caused by a human papillomavirus (HPV) infection. Previous studies indicate that about 50% to 80% of cases are positive for HPV, but there is a gap in knowledge concerning the mechanisms underlying HPV-negative cancers. Many studies indicate that HPV-positive tumors may have a better prognosis than HPV-negative tumors, while established prognostic factors include clinical manifestations such as tumor stage, size, and patient age. Although no biological markers are currently used as prognostic factors, several have been proposed and are under study. Additional knowledge concerning prognostic markers in vaginal cancer is needed in order to improve diagnostics and provide a rational basis for more individualized treatment.

The purpose of this thesis is to identify potential prognostic factors in vaginal cancer. The first study investigates expression of two biomarker proteins, p16 and Ki67, in relation to the presence or absence of HPV in tumor tissue from vaginal cancer. In brief, p16 may act as a tumor suppressor and Ki67 is a protein marker for increased cell division. The study included tumor tissue samples obtained between 1978 and 1995 from women with vaginal cancer who were diagnosed, treated, and followed up in the County of Stockholm. Data pertaining to clinical features and tumor characteristics, as well as treatment and follow-up for possible relapse and/or survival, were collected from the medical records of the included patients over a period spanning up to 8 years from time of diagnosis. The cases were divided according to short- and long-term survival in order to compare the outcomes in relation to presence or absence of HPV and expression of p16 and Ki67 in tumor tissue. The presence of HPV was determined using the Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR), which can be used to detect the genome (DNA) of HPV virus in tumor tissue. Ki67 and p16 expression was investigated through staining of these proteins in patient tissue samples (immunohistochemical staining) and subsequent microscopic examination by a pathologist.

In this material, prevalence of HPV positivity was found to be 43%, which was lower than in several previous studies. High expression of Ki67 was associated with poor differentiation (degree to which tumor cells resemble original tissue) and small tumor size; however, no correlation was found with improved survival. High expression of p16 was also associated with poor differentiation and to the presence of HPV. Moreover, p16 positivity alone was associated with long-term survival in the initial analysis, but not when additional factors, such as patient age, tumor stage, and tumor size, were taken into account. In summary, the results

show that p16 and Ki67 can be used to grade tumors in vaginal cancer and p16 may be useful as a marker for HPV-positive cancer. This study did not find HPV status or Ki67 to be useful as prognostic markers for better survival in vaginal cancer whereas p16 needs to be studied in larger cohorts than ours to clearify a possible association with survival. The main factors associated with survival in our material were tumor size and degree of differentiation.

The second study examined three proteins known as Leucine rich repeats and immunoglobulin-like domains (LRIG) 1, 2, and 3. The LRIG1-3 genes are prone to undergo changes in cancer cells. These genes encode proteins that are involved in the development of various cancers, although their exact functions are not yet clear. LRIG1 appears to exert an inhibitory effect on the development of tumors, while LRIG1-3 have been found to be valuable as prognostic markers for cancer, including cervical cancer. This study used immunostaining of previously collected tumor material from women with vaginal cancer in order to study expression of LRIG1, LRIG2, and LRIG 3, and to investigate whether they correlate with clinical manifestations and survival. This study was conducted on tumor samples from women diagnosed with vaginal cancer in Örebro, Karlstad, Eskilstuna, and Västerås between 1975 and 2002, while also considering previously collected data on clinical manifestations and HPV status as mentioned above. The LRIG1-3 proteins were analyzed using immunohistochemical staining and microscopic examination. Most tumors in this study expressed both LRIG1 and LRIG2, while little or no LRIG3 expression was found. LRIG2 and LRIG3 expression in tumor tissue showed no association with clinical patient data, tumor characteristics, or survival. But the study did show that high expression of LRIG1 significantly correlated with better survival. It was therefore concluded that LRIG1 may possibly serve as a prognostic marker for vaginal cancer in the future.

The third study investigated the dyskerin and WRAP53ß biomarkers. These two proteins are components in an enzyme that protects chromosomes from shortening and as such, may play a role in the development of cancer. Expression of these two proteins was evaluated by immunohistochemical staining in 69 tumors. Low to moderate expression of dyskerin was found in most of these tumors, but those showing high dyskerin expression were associated with significantly worse prognosis, as well as with worse overall and cancer-specific survival. Although WRAP53ß was expressed by most tumors, no correlation with clinical manifestations or prognosis was found.

The fourth and final study aimed to assess the immunological response to tumors by analyzing them for infiltration of white blood cells, specifically CD4+ T cells (T-helper cells) and CD8+ T cells (killer or cytotoxic T cells). These T cells provide a defense against viruses and bacteria, but also against tumor cells. It has previously been shown that high infiltration of T cells into tumor tissue is important for slowing tumor development and may contribute to better survival in various cancers. In this study, we wanted to test the hypothesis that high tumor infiltration of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells is associated with more favorable clinical variables and tumor characteristics, as well as with HPV-positivity, p16 expression, and better prognosis. CD4+ and CD8+ T cell infiltration was higher in tumors that were both HPV-positive and p16-positive. Patients with tumors having high T cell infiltration appeared to have a better survival rate, an association that reached statistical significance in regard to tumors that displayed both high p16 expression and high CD8+ T

cell infiltration. The strongest statistically significant association found in this study was that of worse survival among patients with tumors that were both HPV-negative and lacking in expression of p16. In conclusion, the goal of this thesis was to explore how HPV status and other biomarkers in vaginal cancer relate to survival. We found the most interesting markers for further study to be p16, LRIG1, dyskerin, and CD8+ T cells. The combination of HPV status and p16 expression emerge as clinically relevant for prognosis in vaginal cancer. Expanding our knowledge of prognostic markers may enhance our understanding of how vaginal cancer develops and progresses, ultimately leading to improved diagnostics and treatment options.

ABSTRACT

The overall aim of this PhD thesis is to evaluate HPV status and immunohistochemical expression of different biomarkers, including tumor suppressor p16, proliferation marker Ki67, molecular markers in the LRIG family, WRAP53ß, and dyskerin as well as immune markers CD4+ and CD8+ TILs, and their correlation to clinical manifestations and survival as part of a search for potential prognostic factors in women diagnosed with primary vaginal cancer.

Paper I evaluates the presence of HPV in vaginal cancer tumor samples, as well as immunohistochemical expression of p16 and Ki-67. This study includes 68 short-term and long-term survivors diagnosed with vaginal cancer. The results, which have been correlated with both clinical parameters and survival, show presence of HPV in 43% of patients, with HPV16 found in 63% of the HPV-positive cases. HPV-positivity did not correlate with improved survival but did correlate with low histopathological grade. High expression of p16 was found in 54% of cases and correlated with low histopathological grade (p=0.004), HPV-positivity (p=0.032) and long-term survival (p=0.047). High expression of Ki-67, found in only 34% of patients, correlated negatively with histopathological grade (p < 0.001) and tumor size (p = 0.047). The results suggest that evaluation of p16 and Ki67 may be of value in tumor grading, while expression of p16 may also serve as a possible marker for HPV-positivity. In this study, high p16 expression, in contrast with positive HPV status and presence of Ki-67, was associated with improved survival in the univariate analysis, whereas multivariate analysis indicated that only histopathological grade and tumor size remain as independent prognostic factors. Paper II focuses on the LRIG (leucine-rich repeats and immunoglobulin-like domains) proteins - LRIG1, LRIG2 and LRIG3. Expression of these three proteins is often altered in cancer and has significance for cancer progression. The LRIG1 protein acts as a tumor suppressor, while the function of the remaining two is still unclear. We evaluated immunohistochemical expression of LRIG1, LRIG2, and LRIG3 in tumor samples from a cohort of 70 patients, diagnosed with vaginal cancer between 1975 and 2002, in order to find out whether such expression relates to clinical manifestations and survival. Our results show high (>50% of the cells) expression of LRIG1 and LRIG2 in 72% of tumors, but conversely, little or no expression of LRIG3. The latter two markers did not correlate with any clinical manifestations or survival, while high expression of LRIG1 correlated with HPV positivity and with improved cancer-specific survival (HR 0.35: 95% CI 0.68-0.73) in vaginal cancer patients.

Paper III addresses the molecular factors dyskerin and WRAP53ß in vaginal cancer. These two proteins play a role in the telomerase holoenzyme complex and are upregulated in different cancers. Expression of dyskerin and WRAP53ß was assessed by immunohistochemistry in 68 tumor samples drawn from the same study population as in study II. Most of the tumor samples demonstrated low to moderate expression of dyskerin. This protein is associated with shorter survival time and worse cancer-specific survival (HR 3.701: CI 95% (1.094-12.517). WRAP53ß was also expressed in most cells from the tumor samples, albeit without any association to clinical manifestations or prognosis.

Paper IV is concerned with immune response as it relates to presence of CD4+ (Tumor Infiltrating Lymphocyte) TILs and CD8+ TILs in vaginal cancer tumor samples and also addresses the potential association between TILs, p16 expression and HPV status with clinical manifestations and survival. Once again, immunohistochemistry staining was used to evaluate CD4+ and CD8+ TIL infiltration along with p16 expression in 69 tumor samples from the same study cohort used for the two previous studies. The results

showed higher density CD4+ and CD8+ TIL infiltration in both HPV-positive and p16-positive tumors. High infiltration of CD4+ and CD8+ TILs in tumor samples implies better prognosis. Tumors demonstrating p16 overexpression in addition to high CD8+ TIL infiltration were associated with statistically significant (p=0.033) improvement in prognosis. In contrast, absence of p16 in HPV-negative tumors correlates with a substantially worse prognosis (p= 0.010).

In summary, the studies in this thesis, which is concerned with exploring potential prognostic markers in vaginal cancer, identify p16 as a prognostic marker of interest, especially when considered in light of HPV status. Moreover, LRIG1 and dyskerin may be novel prognostic markers of potential interest, while LRIG2, LRIG3, and WRAP53ß appear to fall short in this regard. Furthermore, CD8+ TILs may also be of interest as a prognostic factor, especially when considered together with HPV status and p16 expression. Although this thesis implicates p16 expression together with HPV status as clinically relevant prognostic factors in vaginal cancer, future studies, using larger study cohorts, will be needed to validate these results for improved diagnostics and treatment strategies for women diagnosed with vaginal cancer.

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- Hellman K, Lindquist D, Ranhem C, Wilander E, Andersson S. Human papillomavirus, p16(INK4A), and Ki-67 in relation to clinicopathological variables and survival in primary carcinoma of the vagina. British journal of cancer. 2014;110(6):1561-70.
- II Rannhem C, Lillsunde Larsson G, Hedman H, Lindquist D, Karlsson MG, Hellström AC, Östensson E, Sorbe B, Hellman K, Andersson E. Expression of LRIG proteins as possible prognostic factors in primary vaginal carcinoma. PloS one. 2017;12(8):e0183816.
- III Ranhem C, Larsson GL, Lindqvist D, Sorbe B, Karlsson MG, Farnebo M, Hellman K, Kovalevksa L, Kashuba E, Andersson S. Evaluation of dyskerin expression and the Cajal body protein WRAP53β as potential prognostic markers for patients with primary vaginal carcinoma. Oncol Lett. 2022;23(1):30.
- IV Ranhem C, Larsson GL, Näsman A, Hellman K, Kashuba E, Andersson S. **High p16 expression**, presence of HPV and elevated number of infiltrated lymphocytes indicate an improved prognosis in vaginal carcinoma. *Manuscript*

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	BACKGROUND	3
	1.1 PRIMARY VAGINAL CARCINOMA	3
	1.1.1 Definition and classification	3
	1.1.2 Epidemiology	4
	1.1.3 Étiology and risk factors	5
	1.1.4 Diagnosis, treatment and prognosis	6
	1.2 PROGNOSIS AND PROGNOSTIC STUDIES	7
	1.3 PROGNOSTIC FACTORS IN VAGINAL CANCER	8
	1.4 PROGNOSTIC FACTORS OF THIS THESIS	9
	1.4.1 Human papillomavirus	10
	1.4.2 Molecular markers as prognostic factors	13
	1.4.3 Immune markers	18
2	RESEARCH AIMS	.23
3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	.24
	3.1 STUDY POPULATION AND TUMOR SAMPLES	.24
	3.2 METHODS	.24
	3.2.1 HPV analysis	24
	3.2.2 Immunohistochemistry	25
	3.2.3 Evaluation of immunohistochemical staining	25
	3.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSES	26
	3.4 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	27
4	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	. 28
	4.1 HPV STATUS (STUDY I)	28
	4.1.1 Results	28
	4.1.2 Discussion	28
	4.2 TUMOR SUPPRESSOR p16 (STUDIES I AND IV)	.29
	4.2.1 Results	29
	4.2.2 Discussion	31
	4.3 PROGRESSION MARKER Ki67 (study I)	33
	4.3.1 Results	33
	4.3.2 Discussion	33
	4.4 LRIG1, LRIG2 AND LRIG3 (STUDY II)	.33
	4.4.1 Results	33
	4.4.2 DISCUSSION	54 25
	4.5 DISKEKIN (SIUDY III)	25
	4.5.2 Discussion	36
	4 6 WRAP538 (STUDY III)	37
	4.6.1 Results	37
	4.6.2 Discussion	37
	4.7 CD4+ AND CD8+ TILs (STUDY IV)	.37
	4.7.1 Results	37
	4.7.2 Discussion	39
	4.8 CONCLUDING REMARKS	40
5	CONCLUSIONS	42
6	POINTS OF PERSPECTIVE	43
7	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	.44
8	REFERENCES	47

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AJCC	American Joint Committee on Cancer
CAR-T	Chimeric antigen receptor
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinases
CD4	Cluster of differentiation 4
CD8	Cluster of differentiation 8
CIN	Cervical intraepithelial neoplasia
СТ	Computer tomography
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EBRT	External beam radiotherapy
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
FFPE	Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded
FIGO	International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics
HIF	Hypoxia-Inducible Factor
HPV	Human papillomavirus
HSIL	High grade intraepithelial lesion
hTERC	Human telomerase RNA component
hTERT	Human telomerase reverse transcriptase
hTR	Human telomerase RNA
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
IFNγ	Interferon-y
LRIG	Leucine-rich repeats and immunoglobuline-like domains
LCR	Long control region
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PET	Positron emission tomography
pRB	Retinoblastoma protein
PVC	Primary vaginal carcinoma
Rb	Retinoblastoma
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SMN	Survival of motor neuron
snRNP	Small nuclear ribonucleoprotein
TIL	Tumor infiltrating lymphocyte
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor-α
TNM	Tumour, nodal and metastasis
VAIN	Vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VLP	Virus like particle
WHO	World Health Organization
WRAP53ß	WD40 encoding RNA Antisense to p53

PREFACE

The idea to have my thesis based on an HPV-related gynecological malignancy was a result of my clinical work at a Women's Department at a County hospital in Sweden. As a specialist in Obstetrics and Gynecology, I have had the opportunity to participate in the engaging implementation of preventive strategies for cervical cancer. I have also had the opportunity to meet women of every age, at every stage of gynecological cancer disease: premalignant disease, curable disease, and palliative stage of the disease. A few of them, I have followed through every step their progression of disease: from first outpatient consultation, through medical investigation, diagnosis, surgery, health controls, relapse, palliative treatment, complications of treatments, and on their way to hospice care. The countless aspects of a cancer disease, not within reach to encompass for a mere clinician, astounds me every day.

This thesis barely touches upon a few aspects of cancer cell biology, such as viral oncogenesis, molecular processes and cancer immunology, and their relation to prognosis in vaginal cancer. Hopefully, I have learnt a little more for continued clinical work with patients that I am so grateful to meet and for future research collaborations within the field of gynecological cancers.

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 PRIMARY VAGINAL CARCINOMA

1.1.1 Definition and classification

Primary vaginal carcinoma is defined as tumor growth from a primary site originating in the vagina. Tumors involving the cervix, vulva, or urethra are differently classified. Moreover, an invasive squamous cell carcinoma in the vagina arising more than 5 years after diagnosis of cervical cancer, with similar histology, will be regarded as a new primary cancer (1).

Squamous cell carcinoma is the most common histological type of invasive malignancy in the vagina (80%-90%), presenting as a moderately differentiated, non-keratinizing usual-type squamous cell carcinoma. Most often they are exophytic, ulcerating tumors; an endophytic growth pattern is less common. Adenocarcinomas, such as clear cell adenocarcinoma, occur at a significantly lower incidence, while cancers of non-epithelial cell origin, such as mesenchymal, melanocytic, lymphoid, or secondary types, are very rare (2). It is noteworthy that vaginal metastases are much more common than primary vaginal cancer. Approximately 80-90% of all vaginal neoplastic lesions are metastases that usually result from invasion by tumors from adjacent organs such as the vulva, cervix, endometrium, ovary, bladder, and rectum (3).



Figure 1. FIGO Staging of Vaginal Tumors. (A) Limited to vaginal wall (Stage I). (B) Beyond vaginal wall (Stage II).
(C) Extends to the pelvis side wall (Stage III). (D) Direct extension into bladder and/or rectum (Stage IVa) (4).
Reprinted by permission from Springer Nature; Stein, R., Ganeshan, D., Gopireddy, D.R. *et al.* Current update on vaginal malignancies. *Abdom Radiol* 46, 5353–5368 (2021).

The most common site of vaginal cancer is the proximal third of the vagina, while approximately 20-25% will involve the lower third and 20% the entire vagina (5, 6). The disease primarily spreads by direct extension to adjacent organs such as the bladder, urethra, or rectum, or indirectly via lymph node metastasis. Lymphatic spread of vaginal cancer is dependent on tumor location. Lymphatic drainage of the lower third of the vagina is to the inguinal nodes, while the upper two-thirds drain to the pelvic lymph nodes. Distant metastases are less frequent, but may include the lungs, liver, and skeleton (1). The most common classification system used for staging in vaginal cancer is the International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) system (Figure 1) (7), which is primarily based on clinical parameters such as physical exam, biopsy, and diagnostic radiology (1, 8). The American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) Staging Classification combines FIGO staging with the TNM (tumor size, node involvement, distant metastasis) system, the latter of which also takes into account histological assessment of the specimen, including surgical lymph nodes (Table 1) (9).

FIGO stage	AJCC stage	Stage grouping	Stage description
Stage I	IA IB	T1a N0 M0 T1b N0 M0	The carcinoma is limited to the vaginal wall. Tumor size ≤2 cm but confined to the vagina (T1a) Tumor size >2 cm but confined to the vagina (T1a)
Stage II	IIA IIB	T2a N0 M0 T2b N0 M0	Tumor size ≤2 cm and is beyond the vaginal wall without pelvis sidewall involvement (T2a) Tumor size > 2 cm and is beyond the vaginal wall without pelvis sidewall involvement (T2b)
Stage III	Ш	T1-3 N0-N1 M0	The carcinoma has extended to the pelvic wall, extends into the lower 1/3 of the vagina, and/or causes hydronephrosis (T3). Pelvic/inguinal nodal metastasis (N1).
Stage IVA	IVB	T4 Any N M0	Tumor invades bladder and/or rectal mucosa and/or direct extension beyond the pelvic wall. Any nodal metastasis.
Stage IVB		Any T Any N M12	Spread to distant organs.

Table 1: FIGO nomenclature and AJCC staging for vaginal carcinoma (2009) (7, 9).

1.1.2 Epidemiology

Vaginal cancer accounts for approximately 2-4% of all genital tract malignancies (10-13). The agestandardized incidence rate is 0.4 and the mortality rate is 0.2 per 100 000 women (14). Globally, the incidence is estimated at almost 18 000 cases annually, with the highest age-standardized incidence rate found in South-Central Asia, followed by southern part of Africa (15). Several Caribbean countries also have high incidence (16). Incidence in the United States is reportedly higher among the black and Hispanic populations than among white or Asian/Pacific Islander women (17).

The incidence in Sweden has been stable over the last 50 years at approximately 30-40 cases annually, with an estimated age-standardized rate of 0.7/100 000 women (crude rate) (18). Worldwide, however, there appears to be a slight increase in the total number of estimated cases (19). Given the increasing prevalence of high-risk human papillomavirus (HPV) infection, a trend toward an increased incidence of vaginal cancer may be anticipated, but considering its rarity, may be difficult to detect (16).

1.1.3 Etiology and risk factors

Since vaginal cancer is rare, the biology and progression of this disease has neither been well studied nor well understood. Vaginal cancer is among the cancers related to HPV infection (20). A majority of cases are associated with a history of HPV, with a prevalence between 43% and 78% in various studies (19, 21-24). Thus, HPV is less commonly found with vaginal cancer than in cervical cancer (>90%) but is still more common than in vulvar cancer (40%) (23, 24). The most common type of high-risk HPV is HPV16, followed by HPV18 (23-26). The relative contribution of HPV16/18 to vaginal cancer has been estimated at 64%, which is lower than in other HPV-related cancers (27).

Vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia (VAIN) is a dysplastic lesion of the vaginal epithelium, regarded as a precursor to vaginal cancer. It is graded into three stages (VAIN1-3), and is associated with an extremely high prevalence of HPV (23). High-grade VAIN (VAIN2/3) has potential for malignant progression, but in previous studies the risk is only between 2% and 12% (28-30). In one study of 1478 patients diagnosed with VAIN, 28 (1.9%) progressed to vaginal cancer (28). The dominant HPV type was HPV16 (85.7%), followed by HPV18.

Additional risk factors for vaginal cancer, related to persistent HPV infection, include prior cervical dysplasia and cervical cancer, for which as many as one fifth to one third of the vaginal cancer vaginal cancer patients had previously been treated (6, 26). A Swedish study showed that women treated for high grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (HSIL) of the cervix were at almost seven times the risk of developing vaginal cancer – a risk which decreased over time, but still remained 25 years after treatment (31). Today, the Swedish national screening program for cervical cancer recommends that women treated for high-grade cervical dysplasia should have lifelong cervical screening with both cytology and HPV analysis (32). Furthermore, women who underwent hysterectomy for prevalent cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) are at relatively higher risk long-term of being diagnosed with vaginal cancer due to persistent HPV infection (33, 34). Similarly, women with prior or prevalent HSIL or adenocarcinoma in situ of the cervix at time of hysterectomy should be monitored with cytology, with the aim of further reducing the number of vaginal cancers (32).

An etiologic pathway other than persistent HPV infection has been proposed (6, 35, 36). Although it is difficult to prove significant associations, several predisposing risk factors have been proposed. Late menarche, nulliparity and early menopause are more common in patients with vaginal cancer. Smoking, gynecological infections, prior hysterectomy for either benign or malignant indications, and previous pelvic radiation therapy are examples of risk factors for vaginal cancer (6). Prolapse with pessary treatment, vaginal surgery, and multiparity > 5 are also risk factors. In short, hormonal factors and vaginal trauma may be associated with a risk of developing vaginal cancer. It has been proposed that, in a setting of chronic inflammation, non-HPV-related squamous cell vaginal cancer p53 mutations are the driving oncogenic mechanism (37).

Few genomic and proteomic studies have been conducted. A high genomic instability with a pattern of genomic alterations similar to that seen in advanced cervical cancer has been demonstrated (38). A proteomic study on tissue-specific protein markers found in vaginal cancer, cervical cancer, and normal vaginal tissue identified three proteins that were uniquely altered in vaginal cancer, while different proteins were similarly altered in both vaginal and cervical cancers (39). These findings support previous evidence of a common etiologic pathway. In summary, risk factors and etiology in vaginal cancer are often linked to those of cervical

cancer by a number of disease similarities. Still, it is important to note that cervical cancer and vaginal cancer affect different age groups.

1.1.4 Diagnosis, treatment and prognosis

Vaginal cancer most commonly affects postmenopausal women at a median age of 63-67 years (6, 40). Most patients present with symptoms such as vaginal bleeding, discharge, or dysuria (41). Diagnosis is confirmed by biopsy of the tumor lesion. It is important to distinguish between vaginal cancer and metastatic lesions from other organs. Clinical staging of the lesions is based on examination with the patient under anesthesia. Tumor spread and staging are established by abdominal and thoracic computer tomography (CT), as well as by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the pelvis (42). Positron emission tomography (PET)-CT is superior to other imaging modalities for detecting spread of vaginal cancer to lymph nodes and for detecting recurrent disease (8).

When vaginal tumors occur in close proximity to adjacent pelvic organs, such as the urethra, bladder, and rectum, surgical treatment has a limited role. Primary surgical treatment may be an option in selected cases, especially for stage I disease involving small lesions (less than 2 cm) confined to the vaginal mucosa, or in a few very specific situations beyond stage I (8, 43).

Radiotherapy has been and remains the treatment of choice for vaginal cancer. A wide variety of techniques and dosages involving a combination of EBRT and interstitial brachytherapy are used by different institutions to treat stage II-IV disease, depending on tumor location and size (44). The optimal or lower threshold dose is 70 Gy, while doses higher than 70 Gy may result in significant grade 3 and 4 toxicities (5). EBRT to the pelvis includes the external iliac and obturator lymph nodes. Should the tumor be located in the lower third of the vagina, the inguinal nodes may be included. Brachytherapy, used to deliver a boost of high-dose radiation to the residual tumor, is associated with longer overall survival (45). Image-guided or adaptive brachytherapy with CT or MRI offers the potential to administer higher doses of radiation to the residual tumor, while decreasing the radiation dose to surrounding healthy tissues (46). More advanced stages require a more individualized treatment plan (1).

The use of chemotherapy has greatly increased over the past two decades based on knowledge gained from small retrospective studies and extrapolated from treatment of cervical cancer. Use of cisplatin-based chemotherapy is similar to treatment of cervical cancer but has been expanded to include palliative treatment of stage IV and recurrent disease. Concurrent chemoradiation has been shown to be an independent prognostic factor for improved survival (47, 48).

Five-year relative survival is estimated to be 41%-70% (16, 49, 50). When compared with other lower genital tract cancers, vaginal cancer appears to be associated with lower survival rates (17, 50-53). Notably, reported survival rates vary considerably depending on region, stage, and time period. Although some studies have shown that survival has improved over time (54, 55), other studies report no such improvement (49, 56, 57). Five-year overall survival rates differ by country: 74%-78% in stage I, 52%-69% in stage II, 43%-68% in stage III and less than 20%-47% in stage IV (58, 59). A recent study reported 58% disease-specific 5-year survival (60), while a different series reported disease-specific survival rates ranging from 76%-85 % in stage

I, 62%-84% in stage II, 57%-75% in stage III, and 22%-65% in stage IV (57, 59, 60). Recurrent disease is associated with an extremely poor prognosis, with 5-year survival rates reported to be 12%-15% (6).

1.2 PROGNOSIS AND PROGNOSTIC STUDIES

The word "prognosis" is borrowed from the ancient Greek (pro-, "before" and gnôsis, "foreknowledge, perceiving beforehand, prediction"), referring to a forecast of the future, a prediction, or estimation of a probability of future events or conditions. Along with diagnosis and treatment, prognosis is at the core of medicine, since it relates to likely future health outcomes, including complications, disease progression, or death, based on the individual patient's risk profile, condition, circumstances, treatment, and additional factors. In clinical practice involving care of cancer patients, prognosis is required in order to make predictions and to stratify patients into different groups to facilitate decisions concerning treatment strategies and to aid in patient counseling.

The evolving field of personalized medicine, which relies on individual prognostic and predictive markers, is playing an increasingly important role in cancer prevention, diagnosis, and treatment. Through use of molecular analysis, personalized medicine is gradually replacing the prevailing organ-centric concept of cancer diagnostics and therapeutics. This new approach is becoming increasingly more integrated into routine clinical practice, as illustrated by the introduction of individualized, molecular targeted therapies, which offer the benefits of increased efficacy and/or reduced toxicity.

Prognostic factors may be classified into three groups – host-related, environment-related, and tumor-related (61). Tumor-related prognostic factors concern tumor pathology, anatomic disease extent, and tumor biology. The last factor relates to translational research, a field currently undergoing explosive expansion as a result of advances in high throughput "omics" techniques, including development of tools such as next-generation sequencing and ribonucleic acid (RNA) sequencing, which now allow for simultaneous detection and evaluation of both mutations and gene expression. However, how to apply this information for the benefit of patients still remains largely unsolved.

Identification of a new prognostic marker involves different phases of studies (62, 63). As a start, exploratory studies are performed, aimed at identifying novel prognostic markers and formulating new hypotheses. Exploratory research may help to define the natural history of a disease, but in some cases, it may also help to clarify causal relationships related to the disease (61, 64). This initial phase is followed by assay development and qualification to help identify markers in clinical samples. Further exploratory investigations assess the values of prognostic markers in stratifying patients based on degree of risk for progression of disease or death. Ultimately, confirmatory studies are needed as a complement to identify important markers and to validate prior findings. Regrettably, exploratory studies far outnumber confirmatory studies, largely because the latter are saddled with requirements for reproducibility pertaining to clinical practice, including the need for widely available quality controls related to the prespecified marker, as well as larger sample sizes to increase study power and a requirement to confirm that the novel marker is associated with a uniquely independent capability that exceeds available pre-existing clinical markers.

Another concern relating to prognostic research is the paucity of prospective studies. Retrospective studies allow for identification of a cohort with a defined follow-up time to assess for a number of outcome events, such as deaths or recurrences. However, retrospective studies are associated with several limitations, including uncertainty concerning whether the study cohort is complete and correctly defined, lack of standardization of diagnostic and therapeutic procedures, as well as often incomplete baseline and follow-up data.

Translational research has long focused on a single biomarker to identify putative prognostic factors. However, given the limitations concerning single genes, which are rarely capable of providing an accurate estimate of prognosis, the need for multivariate research is obvious. Prognostic models, which entail different combinations of variables, are under study to provide outcome probabilities for different combinations of prognostic factors. However, as more variables come under study, demands increase for a larger study population and number of events to scrutinize (65).

Systematic reviews and meta-analyses of prognostic studies may serve as important tools to synthesize study findings based on small sample sizes and inconsistent results. It is important to consider that several methodological problems pertaining to prognostic marker studies may result in bias, which will be reflected in the scientific literature. Such problems may include selectively or non-reported information, issues related to study quality, and a focus on finding and reporting only statistically significant results.

In an effort to address the research difficulties encountered in the field of prognostic markers, the REMARK guidelines for reporting tumor marker studies were presented in 2005 (66). With a checklist of twenty items pertaining to methodology (including study design, study procedures, and analysis of tumor markers), the guidelines provide a comprehensive framework for prognostic studies relating to tumor markers. The guidelines are aimed at more transparent and complete reporting, including both strengths and weaknesses, to enable readers to assess the quality and relevance of tumor markers. However, the difficulties encountered when conducting prognostic studies still remain, for which reason many prognostic studies fail to comply with guideline recommendations (67).

The above summary describing the complexities of prognostic research serves to illustrate the limitations of the studies included in this thesis, and may also contextualize the challenges of translational research, as well as cancer management and treatment.

1.3 PROGNOSTIC FACTORS IN VAGINAL CANCER

Since vaginal cancer is rare, knowledge about this disease and its prognostic factors are mainly based on retrospective studies with relatively small study populations. Important factors that impact survival include advanced stage of disease and old age (5, 40, 57, 68), but tumor size >4 cm, although not included in FIGO staging, has repeatedly been shown to be significant (41, 57, 68). Tumor location in the upper third of the vagina has been associated with significantly better prognosis (69, 70), although research findings are divided on this point (71). Patients with inguinal lymph node involvement at time of diagnosis had worse 5-year disease-free survival (33.3%) than patients without lymph node involvement (55.5%) (72).

Additional factors that have come under investigation include morphology and lymphatic involvement, both of which have been associated with vaginal cancer prognosis. Adenocarcinoma of the vagina has a worse prognosis than squamous cell carcinoma (73). Studies are inconsistent concerning the importance of parameters such as histological grade, anemia, and prior hysterectomy (44).

Biomarkers that have been studied and proposed as holding significance for prognosis include p16, Ki67, p53, p21, cyclin A, E-cadherin, laminin-5 expression, EGFR, and VEGF (44). With the exception of p16 as will be discussed further below, the results regarding these biomarkers are inconsistent or insignificant (22, 44, 74). One study involving 72 vaginal cancer patients showed that all tumors contained DNA aneuploidy, though the value of this finding in clinical assessment is uncertain (75).

1.4 PROGNOSTIC FACTORS OF THIS THESIS

Biomarkers are biological factors related to biological and pathogenic processes and/or to response to treatment that may be measured accurately and reproducibly. When searching for prognostic factors related to cancer, it is reasonable to investigate the biomarkers involved in its various processes. However, carcinogenic processes are notoriously multifaceted and heterogenic, and biomarker research is vast. In 2000, Hanahan and Weinberg organized the processes of cancer formation by rationalizing their complexities into six underlying principles, now known as the "hallmarks of cancer" (76). The list of capabilities that cells must acquire in their stepwise journey toward cancer transformation was elaborated in 2011 and includes the following: (1) sustained proliferative signals, (2) evasion of growth suppressors, (3) resistance to cell death, (4) replicative immortality, (5) induction of angiogenesis, (6) activation of invasion and metastasis, (7) avoidance of immune destruction, (8) deregulation of cellular energetics, (9) genome instability and mutation, and (10) tumor-promoting inflammation (77). In this thesis we have focused on a number of factors involved in the "hallmarks of cancer" and investigated their potential as prognostic factors in vaginal cancer (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Prognostic factors investigated in this thesis and their relation to the hallmarks of cancer (78-81). Reprinted by permission from Elsevier. Douglas Hanahan, Robert A. Weinberg. Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell. 2011 Mar 4;144(5):646-74.

1.4.1 Human papillomavirus

1.4.1.1 HPV genome and classification

HPV is a small, circular double-stranded capsid-containing DNA virus of icosahedral symmetry, which is structured into three regions having different functions in the viral life cycle: (1) the long control region (LCR) regulates viral gene expression and replication; (2) the early (E) region, which encodes proteins E1, E2, E4, E5 and the oncoproteins E6 and E7, also essential for viral gene expression and replication, as well as for survival; (3) the late (L) region, which encodes the viral capsid proteins L1 and L2 that are responsible for maturation and assembly of the virus particle (82).



Figure 3. HPV16 and structure and viral proteins (83). Reprinted by permission from Elsevier. de Sanjosé S, Brotons M, Pavón MA. The natural history of human papillomavirus infection. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2018 Feb;47:2-13.

HPV belongs to the *Papillomaviridae* family. Classification of HPV is based on DNA sequence homology of the L1 gene, which is the most conserved region of the genome (84). Today, over 220 different HPV types are known and new types are continually being identified. The *Papillomaviridae* phylogenetic tree is subdivided into five genera (alpha, beta, gamma, my and nu). HPV behavior and carcinogenic potential correlate with the phylogenetic genera. The alpha-genus, which infects mucosa, contains all 13 carcinogenic HPV types: HPV16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 56, 58, 59, 66 (82, 84). The most prevalent type, also having the strongest carcinogenic potential, is HPV16, followed by HPV18 (20).

1.4.1.2 HPV infection

Genital HPV infection is the most common sexually transmitted infection worldwide (85). The global burden of HPV-related cancer is estimated at about 4.5% (630 000) of all new cancer cases (19). Vaginal cancer accounts for approximately 1.6% of all HPV-related cancer in women (24). Other cancers attributable to HPV infection have received more attention in recent years. The 2009 International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) list of cancers for which there is evidence of HPV as a causative factor includes vulva, vagina, anus, penis, and oropharynx (86).

HPV preventive strategies, including HPV-based cervical cancer screening and HPV vaccination programs, are expected to reduce the global burden of HPV-related disease and cancer in the coming decades. It is worth noting that vaginal cancer is among the cancers diagnosed at the oldest median age, for which reason a decrease in the number of cancers following screening and vaccination may not be realized for many decades. (87, 88).

HPV infection is most common among women <25 years and declines with increasing age, although on many continents there is an unexplained second peak in HPV prevalence among middle-aged women (89, 90). In general, HPV infection clears within 12-24 months as a result of cell-mediated immunity response (83, 91). During the interim, the virus is maintained in the host and replicates as an episome, progressing through a normal viral life cycle.

However, 10%-20% of women fail to clear the virus, at which point the HPV infection becomes persistent (83, 89) and the viral genome often integrates into the human genome, resulting in an accumulation of genetic and epigenetic events (92, 93). Integration of the viral genome has been suggested as an important, albeit not a prerequisite, step for progression to invasive cervical cancer (82, 94). The published literature is consistent and it is now widely accepted that HPV genome integration occurs in approximately 90% of cervical cancer cases.

When HPV integrates the host cell genome in squamous cells, the result is over-expression of E6 and E7 proteins. These proteins interact with a number of specific cellular proteins to initiate neoplastic transformation, through inhibition of essential steps in the human cell cycle (Figure 4). The E6 protein affects the tumor suppressor protein p53, which normally mediates cell cycle arrest, and inhibits apoptosis (95, 96). The E7 protein binds to pRB (retinoblastoma protein), another tumor suppressor protein, thereby blocking binding of the latter to E2F. Through a series of steps this results in up-regulation of cyclin-dependent kinases (CDK)4 and CDK6. In turn, they cause the inactivation of pRB, allowing activation of genes necessary for cell cycle progression. In other words, the activity of E6 and E7 appears to in vivo studies result in a number of cellular events that contribute to an accumulation of genetic abnormalities and cancer development through immortalization, inhibition of DNA damage response, genomic instability and inhibition of differentiation (96). HPV integration may also disrupt tumor suppressor genes or be localized at fragile sites for DNA breakage which may be linked to cancer development (97, 98).



Figure 4. Increase of p16 expression in HPV-positive cancers (99). Reprinted from Wai KC, *et al.* Molecular Diagnostics in Human Papillomavirus-Related Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Cells. 2020 Feb 22;9(2):500.

Little is known about the specific characteristics of the epithelium at sites that are vulnerable to infection with oncogenic HPV types, but this knowledge gap has been most studied in the transformation zone of the cervix

where the stratified epithelium of the ectocervix meets the columnar epithelium of the endocervix, an area known to be susceptible to HPV infection. An updated model considers how HPV infection targets cervical reserve cells, a specialized form of stem cells. Depending on where in the cervical epithelium HPV infection occurs, three different routes of progression, each associated with a different risk of cancer, may occur; however, the risk of persistent infection and deregulation of viral gene expression may be present in all three scenarios (100). When infection occurs in stratified epithelial sites outside the transformation zone, it is unclear whether infection of a reserve cell is required for persistent infection, or whether this is caused by HPV-encoded genes that modify the infected basal cell (101).

Yet one other model has been proposed to explain development of HPV-related multicentric disease of the lower genital tract that considers three hypothetical pathogenic pathways (Figure 5) (102). These pathways relate to: (A) independently transformed cell clones, characterized by synchronous lesions, identical HPV type, and different levels of oncogene expression; (B) susceptibility to HPV infection through repeated infections with different HPV types and frequently deregulated oncogene expression; or (C) clonal lesions stemming from an initial cervical lesion, with development of metachronous lesions with aberrant oncogene expression caused by an identical HPV type, although some cases may be explained by clonal propagation of already transformed cervical cells.

In summary, it would appear that HPV-related cancers may depend on a variety of HPV types and their deregulation of genes, in addition to the site of epithelial origin, but our knowledge remains limited.



Figure 5. Hypothetical pathways for development of multicentric intraepithelial lesions of the lower genital tract (102). Reprinted by permission from Springer Nature. Hampl M, *et al.* Comprehensive analysis of 130 multicentric intraepithelial female lower genital tract lesions by HPV typing and p16 expression profile. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2007 Apr;133(4):235-45.

1.4.1.3 HPV and immune response

Although most HPV infections are cleared within 1-2 years, the nature of the HPV life cycle allows for infections to remain undetected by the immune system and thereby become persistent, with an attendant risk for development of cancer. HPV is recognized for strategies to evade the adaptive immune system, which allows for latency and completion of the viral replication cycle (101, 103).

The HPV life cycle is localized to the keratinocytes of the epithelium where immune cells are scarce, rather than infiltrating through the basal membrane to stroma, where immune cells are more abundant by comparison. HPV remains an intra-epithelial pathogen throughout its life cycle without a viremic phase, well hidden from the host immune response. Low viral expression in the cells adjacent to the basal membrane significantly limits viral antigen presentation. HPV replication and assembly do not result in lytic cell death; instead, the keratinocytes involved in HPV replication are simply shed from the upper parts of the epithelium, well away from immune activity. As a result, no inflammatory response with release of proinflammatory cytokines occurs to activate antigen-presenting cells.

HPV may also compromise the inherent defense mechanisms of keratinocytes by, for example, causing downregulation of pathogen recognition receptors and adhesion molecules in infected host cells that would otherwise normally induce an innate and adaptive immune response. HPV is endowed with mechanisms that inhibit interferon synthesis and signaling. Through altered gene expression and disturbed protein and cytokine functions, induction of antigen presenting cells is thwarted.

Nevertheless, HPV infection is cleared in 80%-90% of cases in response to cell-mediated immunity against early viral proteins, a mechanism involving accumulation of CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells in and around the lesion (101, 103, 104). An understanding of the immune system response to HPV infection and of the mechanisms leading to HPV persistence is crucial for understanding carcinogenesis, and for adoption of novel treatment strategies, including immunotherapy.

1.4.1.4 HPV vaccination

HPV prophylactic vaccines are based on recombinant expression of the L1 gene and self-assembly into viruslike particles (VLP), without viral genome. Vaccine recipients produce high levels of neutralizing antibodies that prevent HPV from entering cells. The initial bivalent and quadrivalent vaccines registered in 2006 are gradually being replaced by a nonavalent vaccine covering HPV6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52, and 58 (105). Vaccination programs are increasingly incorporating HPV vaccination of girls, which is gradually being extended to boys. However, as of June 2020, 55% of the World Health Organization's (WHO) 194 member states were a long way from meeting the 90% vaccination target (106). Encouragingly, the first studies containing real-world data have now been published, revealing the anticipated effectiveness of vaccination in terms of a substantial reduction of both high-grade cervical lesions in young women and incidence of cervical cancer (107-109). A decrease in high-grade VAIN among young women, likely attributable to vaccination, has already been described (54). Similarly, the anticipated effect of HPV vaccination on incidence rates of HPV-related cancers involving noncervical sites, including vaginal cancer, is also significant (110, 111).

1.4.2 Molecular markers as prognostic factors

1.4.2.1 Tumor suppressor p16

Tumor suppressor protein p16 is frequently used as a biomarker in gynecological malignancies. This tumor protein is involved in cell-cycle regulation, which is tightly controlled in normal noninfected cells, while the cell cycle is upregulated in HPV-infected cells (112). Its mode of action is through suppression of cycline-dependent kinase activity (CDK). CDK regulates cell cycle progression and cell division by facilitating binding of pRb to transcription factor E2F, resulting in cell cycle arrest and attendant decrease in p16 expression.

In the case of HPV-infected cells, as previously described, the HPV DNA encodes for the E7 protein, which binds to and inactivates pRb, which results in continuous cell cycle progression and overexpression of p16 (Figure 4). Since oncogenic HPV infection causes accumulation of p16 in the cell nucleus (96, 113), overexpression of p16 is of interest as a potential marker for HPV-related cancers (114-116). Studies on other squamous cell carcinomas have shown that p16 expression, as measured by immunohistochemistry, has high sensitivity and specificity for identification of HPV-positive tumors (36, 117, 118), which also makes it a useful biomarker for HPV-related oncogenic activity in the lower female genital tract (36, 112, 113, 118). As a prognostic marker, p16 has been evaluated and demonstrated to be of significant value in cervical, vulvar, penile, anal, and oropharyngeal cancers (119-123). Concerning oropharyngeal cancers in particular, p16 has now become established as a significant clinically relevant marker for treatment decisions (124, 125).

Although immunohistochemical evaluation has shown that p16 can serve as a valuable surrogate marker for HPV-induced transformation in the cells of precancerous and cancerous tissues, it is important to note that immunohistochemical detection of p16 does not equate to evidence that HPV is the etiological factor since tumors may even overexpress p16 in the absence of HPV infection (126).

1.4.2.2 Proliferation marker Ki67

Ki67 is an antigen widely used as a marker of cell proliferation, but its functions remain unclear. The MIB-1 antibody is a monoclonal antibody used in immunostaining for identification of the Ki67 antigen, expressed in the nuclei of mitotically active cells. It allows us to discriminate between proliferating and resting cells, since it is present in the active phases (G₁, G₀, G₂, and mitosis) of the cell cycle, but not in resting cells in G₀ phase (127). In the clinical setting, the Ki67 immunostaining pattern serves as a proliferation index within a cell population, where higher staining intensity indicates increased proliferation activity. Such activity is associated with an unfavorable clinical outcome, increased tumor size, and more advanced stage of disease in a number of different human cancers (75, 128).

Ki67 has proved to be valuable in clinical application in different gynaecological pre-cancerous lesions and cancers. Since HPV infection may induce cell proliferation in epithelium, increased expression of Ki67 may be regarded as an indicator of HPV infection (129). In cervical screening, dual staining of Ki67 and p16 in cytological low-grade lesions will detect high-grade lesions with equally high sensitivity and increased specificity compared to HPV testing (130). It is very often used in used in grading of cervical pre-cancerous lesions (131). Ki67 has also been suggested as a useful prognostic factor in early-stage endometrial cancer (132).

1.4.2.3 LRIG1, LRIG2 and LRIG3

The LRIG (leucine-rich repeats and immunoglobulin-like domains) gene family, discovered in 2001, comprises LRIG1, LRIG2, and LRIG3. The LRIG genes encode transmembrane proteins involved in the regulation of growth factor signaling and cell proliferation. The human LRIG1 gene is localized to chromosome 3p14, the LRIG2 gene to 1p13.1, and LRIG3 gene to 12q14.1 (133). The structure of the corresponding proteins is similar with a transmembrane or luminal part containing fifteen leucine-rich-repeats and three immunoglobulin-like domains, a transmembrane glycoprotein, and a cytosolic domain which differs between the three members (Figure 6). A wide variety of human tissues express the three LRIG genes (134-136), but the subcellular localization of the LRIG proteins appears to be specific to different cell types (137). Nuclear, perinuclear, cytoplasmic, or plasma membrane localization may influence their function and thus have important clinical implications.

The LRIG proteins have been found to be regulators of growth factor signaling and cell proliferation through interaction with receptor tyrosine kinases and modulation of their signaling. However, the role of dysregulated LRIG proteins in the genesis and progression of human cancers remains controversial.



Figure 6. Characterization of LRIG protein (138).

Reprinted by permission from Eureka Science. Malik U, Javed A. LRIGs: A Prognostically Significant Family with Emerging Therapeutic Competence against Cancers. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2017;17(1):3-16.

LRIG1 protein has been proposed to have a tumor suppressor function (139). In a variety of different human cell types, LRIG1 inhibits cell proliferation in both normal and transformed cells. LRIG1 negatively regulates growth factor signaling mediated by several oncogenic receptor tyrosine kinases, acting by various mechanisms including ubiquitination, degradation, and destabilization, as well as through paracrine signaling, just to illustrate the complexity of its function (133, 140-143).

Although LRIG1 is highly expressed in specific cells within various human tissues (144), expression is downregulated in several human cancers, such as renal cell cancer (145), glioma (146) and breast cancer (147). However, certain cancers, including those involving breast, colorectum, and prostate, may display either up- or downregulation of LRIG1 (80, 148, 149). In light of its endogenous down-regulation of growth factor signaling, one might postulate that LRIG1 could be associated with improved survival in cancer. High expression of LRIG1 in tumor tissues, as measured through gene copy number, mRNA levels, or protein levels, has in fact been linked to better prognosis in breast cancer (80, 139, 150), skin cancer (151), non-small cell lung cancer (152), head and neck cancer (153), hepatocellular carcinoma (154), high-grade glioma, and malignant melanoma (155). LRIG1 also appears to increase sensitivity and/or reduce resistance in tumor cells toward chemotherapy (138), which suggests a possible future role for LRIG1 in cancer treatment. To summarize, there is no consistency in LRIG1 expression among different cancers, which may possibly relate to subcellular protein localization, or specific protein interactions (137), but staging and cancer subtype are also certainly important (138).

Less is known about LRIG2 and LRIG3, with respect to both their function and to their impact on cancer prognosis (137, 156). The LRIG2 gene is localized to the 1p13 region, which is frequently deleted in various cancers (138). Although expressed in all tissues, expression is highest in the skin, ovary, and uterus (136). LRIG2 has been proposed to play a stimulatory role in regulation of the EGFR signaling pathway by increasing tyrosine kinase receptor signaling, which, through mitogenic activity, promotes downstream proliferation in glial cells (157). In skin, LRIG2 is associated with activated pro-oncogenic pathways that accelerate tumor progression *in vivo* (158). High LRIG2 expression is linked to better survival in meningioma (138), but with poor survival in other cancers such as oligodendroglioma (159), non-small cell lung carcinoma (160), and esophageal cancer (161). Thus, LRIG2 is thought to act as an oncoprotein, but as with LRIG1, both level of expression and subcellular protein localization of LRIG2 may determine its impact in cancer (162).

The mechanism of action of LRIG3 is not extensively studied. Diverse roles have been proposed; it is known to play a significant role in formation of the neural crest during embryonic development in Xenopus (163), as well as in morphogenetic formation of the lateral canals of the vestibular organ, and is also involved in regulation of heart function and blood cholesterol levels (138).

The effect of LRIG3 on clinical outcomes in cancer is not clear, but it appears to act as a tumor suppressor in most cancers that have been studied thus far (138). As an example, LRIG3 has been shown to be a potent tumor suppressor, with a role in invasion, proliferation, and apoptosis in glioblastoma cells (164). Again, the subcellular localization of this protein impacts survival in oligodendroglioma (162). LRIG3 interacts with, and possibly opposes, the function of LRIG1, which further illustrates the complex functions of the LRIG protein family in cells (165).

To conclude, prior studies show that LRIG1 and LRIG3 generally play a tumor-suppressive role, while LRIG2 usually functions as a tumor initiator.

1.4.2.4 Dyskerin

Cellular immortality is a hallmark of cancer and tumor cells rely on the telomerase holoenzyme complex, where dyskerin is an important factor, for their unlimited replicative potential. Telomeres protect the end of the chromosome from DNA damage or from fusion with neighboring chromosomes. Telomerase compensates for the telomere loss that results from incomplete genome end replication by adding telomeric repeats of six-nucleotide repeating sequences (5'-TTAGGG) at chromosome ends. Replication in somatic cells stops when telomeres are critically short, but in 90% of cancer cells telomerase activity is reactivated and unregulated, resulting in continuous elongation of the telomeres, which permits continuous cell division and proliferative immortality (166). Telomerase activity is an important pathway in HPV-related oncogenic progression (167).

The telomerase holoenzyme complex comprises human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) and human telomerase RNA (hTR), along with dyskerin (Figure 7). Dyskerin, along with small nucleolar RNAs (Nhp2, Nop10, and Gar1), is a member of the H/ACA family of ribonucleoproteins, which helps regulate protein stability and activity in the telomerase holoenzyme complex. WRAP53ß is also a member of this protein complex, as will be discussed in further detail below. Several additional factors (14-3-3, Hsp90, p23, pontin, reptin, NAT10, GNL3L, and hnRNPs) are associated with the telomerase holoenzyme complex and play transient roles in enzyme activity (168).

Dyskerin, a nucleolar protein encoded by the DKC1 gene at Xq28 and possessing pleiotropic functions, is involved in protein expression, growth, and proliferation. It interacts with hTERC by binding to hTR to help stabilize the telomerase complex. Dyskerin is also necessary for pre-RNA splicing and ribosome biogenesis (169). It catalyzes formation of pseudouridine (RNA modification by an isomer of the nucleoside uridine) in ribosomal and certain small RNAs (170, 171). Defective ribosomal uridine modification will result in a defect in translation of mRNAs, including those encoding for the antiapoptotic factors and for tumor suppressors p53 and p27 resulting in cell immortality and lack of tumor suppression (172-174).



Figure 7: Schematic structure of the telomerase complex assembled in Cajal bodies including hTERT, hTERC, dyskerin, NOP10, NHP2, GAR1 and TCAB1/WRAP53ß (175). Reprinted by permission from Elsevier. Brazvan B *et al.* Telomerase activity and telomere on stem progeny senescence. Biomed Pharmacother. 2018 Jun;102:9-17.

Dyskerin expression and function affect aging, cell proliferation, bone marrow, and cancer development. Knowledge concerning dyskerin has been derived from studies on premature aging syndromes, such as Dyskeratosis Congenita, which is caused by mutations in the DKC1 genes. Moreover, ribosomal disorders may also be related to defective dyskerin expression or function. Patients with such conditions may be more susceptible to development or progression of cancer (176).

In view of these findings, it is not surprising that altered dyskerin expression has been linked with tumor formation and multiple types of cancer. Expression of dyskerin varies and is deregulated in various human tumors, where it has been proposed to act as a tumor suppressor in some instances, but also as a factor associated with poor prognosis in for example breast cancer, neuroblastoma, and hepatocellular carcinoma (174, 177, 178).

1.4.2.5 WRAP53ß

The WRAP53 (**W**D40 encoding **R**NA Antisense to **p53**) gene, also known as WDR79 or TCAB1, is linked to the pathogenesis of various cancers and to diseases like spinal muscular atrophy (179) and dyskeratosis congenita (180). As a natural p53 antisense transcript, WRAP53ß is located on the opposite DNA strand, with overlap to p53 in a head-to-head fashion and transcribed in the opposite direction in relation to p53 (Figure 8A). Three variant start exons (α , β , γ) result in three alternative transcripts of WRAP53: WRAP53 α , WRAP53 β , and WRAP53 γ (function of the last one is unknown). WRAP53 α , regulates p53 function in DNA repair. WRAP53 β is in focus of this thesis; it has emerged as a significant protein factor linked to various processes, one of which is its role in carcinogenic transformation (181).

WRAP53ß is involved in three diverse processes: (1) formation of nuclear organelles known as Cajal bodies, (2) telomere elongation and (3) DNA damage repair (Figure 8B-C). WRAP53β acts as a scaffold protein that facilitates simultaneous interaction with multiple proteins, which enables WRAP53β to carry out various functions independently of one another (78). WRAP53β directs factors to the Cajal bodies, which are nuclear structures that enhance essential biological cellular processes by assembling the necessary factors. Maintenance and stabilization of Cajal bodies is one of the main functions. In similarity to dyskerin, WRAP53β is also an important component of the telomerase holoenzyme complex with a role in telomere elongation and telomerase trafficking (182). Finally, WRAP53β is also involved in DNA damage response and repair where, once again, it acts as a scaffold for DNA repair proteins, which stabilizes protein interactions at the site of DNA double strand breaks (183).

It has been suggested that the subcellular localization of WRAP53β is integral to its normal function (81). It is localized to both the cytoplasm and the nucleus. Little is known about the subcellular trafficking mechanisms of WRAP53β, but it is suggested that deviant localization may cause dysfunction.



Figure 8. A) The transcription of WRAP53 gene in an antisense fashion to p53 and the gene products of WRAP53. B) The functions of WRAP53 α and β . C) The role of WRAP53 β in Cajal bodies. Adopted from Tiefenböck-Hansson, K. (2017). The impact of Survivin, WRAP53 β , and Hypoxia on treatment response in Head and Neck Cancer (PhD dissertation, Linköping University Electronic Press). https://doi.org/10.3384/diss.diva-142112.

1.4.3 Immune markers

1.4.3.1 Tumor microenvironment and tumor editing

The tumor microenvironment is complex and evolves continuously; in addition to adjacent cancer cells, it refers to a mix of infiltrating and resident cells, as well as secreted factors and the extracellular matrix. The composition varies between tumor types, but hallmark features include stromal cells, endothelial cells, and non-cellular components of the extracellular matrix such as collagen, fibronectin, and laminin, as well as a diversity of adaptive and innate immune cells with both pro- and anti-tumorigenic functions.
A complex network of intercellular communication involving cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors contribute to the interactions (184, 185). Furthermore, circulating tumor cells, exosomes, cell-free DNA, and apoptotic bodies all are involved in complex crosstalk between cancer cells and distant target cells (186). With support from the surrounding environment, tumor cells may stimulate significant molecular, cellular, and physical changes that facilitate invasion, local progression, and metastasis.

Immunoediting is a dynamic process that occurs between tumor cells and the immune system. Through mutations and selection of immune-resistant cancer cells, the immune response in tumors change may be divided into three different phases: elimination, equilibrium, and escape. In the initial elimination phase, also known as immunosurveillance, the immune system is able to identify transformed cells for elimination. During the following equilibrium phase, tumor cells acquire, through mutations, features to escape immunosurveillance. Most of the transformed cells are still eliminated by the innate and adaptive immune response, but the eradication is without entire success. In the final phase, by an accumulation of adaptations, tumor cells manage to escape the immune system (187).

T cells are the most important lymphocytes for adaptive antitumor immunity and perform various effector functions depending on subtype. The two subtypes of interest in this thesis are (1) T helper cells with surface expression of CD4 (CD4+ TILs) and (2) cytotoxic T cells with surface expression of CD8 (CD8+ TILs).



Figure 9. Schematic illustration of immune functions of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ TILs (188). Reprinted by permission from Elsevier. Tang Y, *et al.* Prognostic and therapeutic TILs of cervical cancer-Current advances and future perspectives. Mol Ther Oncolytics. 2021 Jul 21;22:410-430.

1.4.3.2 CD4+ TILs

CD4⁺ T cells can differentiate into several diverse functional subtypes. Firstly, they help to mediate antitumor response through direct and indirect means involving CD8⁺ TILs (189) (Figure 9). Concerning indirect mechanisms, secretion of effector cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-2 activates CD8+ TILs. CD4+ also supports and maintains pro-inflammatory dendritic cells, which indirectly aids CD8+ TILs function. Secondly, they exert a direct anti-tumor effect through release of activation signals that induce acquisition of cytotoxicity and secretion of effector cytokines such interferon- γ (IFN γ) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α) which stimulate differentiation of effector and memory CD8+ TILs. Thirdly, CD4+ TILs induce humoral immune response against tumor antigens by aiding in the differentiation and antibody production of B cells (189).

1.4.3.3 CD8+ TILs

CD8+ TILs depend on CD4+ TILs for their response to cancer, via which they gain the ability to recognize and kill cells that are infected or transformed. CD4+ TILs will present foreign (or transformed) antigens on their surface, aided by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules. CD8+ TILs kill enemy cells by establishing an immunological synapse with the antigen, thereby initiating signals that will lead to apoptosis through one of two possible mechanisms. In the first, the cytotoxic granules are induced to empty the perforin/granzyme B contents in the vicinity of the foreign target cell, where they are transported into the target cell through perforin pores, with a following cascade of events that induces apoptosis. Secondly, they may also use the FasL expressed on CD8+ TILs to form a cross-link with the Fas receptor on the target cell surface; the latter acts as a death receptor which induces intracellular mechanisms in the cell that ultimately culminate in apoptosis (190).

1.4.3.4 CD4+ TILs and CD8+ TILs as prognostic factors

A growing number of studies have shown that the elements characterizing the host immune response to tumors, including TIL type, number, and ratio, can provide useful information for tumor prognosis. CD8+ TILs have mainly been recognized for their impact on tumor growth, while CD4+ TILs are known to play a more complex role in immunomodulation, since they may both mediate antitumor immunity and promote tumor growth. When considered together, however, their mutual presence in tumor tissue is regarded as a good prognostic indicator (79).

The tumor microenvironment in cervical cancer shares some common features with solid tumors, but also has some unique characteristics associated with HPV infection (191). To our knowledge, infiltrating T-cells have never been studied in relation to vaginal cancer, for which reason a brief review of the literature on cervical cancer may provide some clues concerning their value. A meta-analysis of infiltrating T-cells in cervical cancer showed a pattern of higher T-cell infiltration in both normal cervical tissue and cancerous tissue, while precancerous lesions had lower infiltration (192). This might be explained by the previously described mechanisms of immune activation and immune evasion. Elevated cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells are now known to be a good prognostic marker in cervical cancer (193) and activated memory CD4⁺ T cells also indicate a favorable prognosis (194).

The idea has been proposed that an effective T-cell response involving both CD8+ TILs and CD4+ IL-2, as well as IFNγ-producing TILs, are required to eradicate HPV-infected cells (195). This is consistent with the idea that HPV-induced progressive disease is associated with a lack of strong T-cell response against early viral proteins. Interestingly, though, tumors are often infiltrated with immunosuppressive cells such as regulatory T cells, macrophages, and IDO+ cells. It has been shown that in cervical cancer, T-cells do not produce granzyme B, which is known to be crucial for induction of target cell apoptosis. Instead, they express PD-1, which is a sign of immune exhaustion (196).

Accordingly, the presence of an HPV-specific CD4+ response in cervical cancer is associated with an improved survival outcome and response to treatment. In HPV-associated cervical cancers, the degree of CD8+ TILs have been shown to correlate with better clinical outcome (197, 198). Absence of lymph node metastases in primary tumors is linked to high intratumoral CD8+ T-cell infiltration. Notably, there is a strong correlation between infiltration with CD8+ T cells and the two CD4+ subtypes Foxp3-negative and Foxp3+ T cells, but currently, only the ratio between CD8⁺ T cells and Foxp3+ T regs has proven to be useful as an

independent prognostic factor in regard to cervical cancer (196). One analysis regarding the composition of tumor-infiltrating immune cells in cervical cancer, which was based on RNA expression data, showed that the immune infiltration profiles in normal tissues differed from those in cervical cancer; higher densities of activated memory CD4⁺ T cells were present in cancer, a characteristic that was also found to be an independent factor for favorable overall survival (199).

The search for the ideal biomarker is becoming increasingly important in the effort to select those patients who are most likely to respond to the various emerging immunotherapeutic treatments, which now include chimeric antigen receptor T (CAR-T) cells, negative immune regulation-based therapies, adaptive cell therapy, and TIL-based therapy (188). Infiltrating lymphocytes have proven to be important to predicting progression of different types of solid tumors and currently appear to be the most interesting immune cells in cancer treatment.

The assessment of TILs in tumors is considered to be a robust and inexpensive approach in the quest for the ideal biomarker, where to date greater progress has been made in relation to breast cancer and colon cancer than in relation to HPV-related tumors. Comparing the immune profiles in HPV-positive and HPV-negative vaginal cancer will contribute to our understanding of the complex biology underlying these different tumors, each with its own unique tumor microenvironment, and pave the way for future implementation of novel immunotherapies.

2 RESEARCH AIMS

The overall objective of this PhD thesis was to identify potential prognostic factors in primary vaginal cancer with focus on HPV.

The specific objectives of the included studies were as follows:

- *Study I:* To investigate presence of HPV and the expression of p16 and Ki67 and their correlation with clinical parameters and survival in vaginal cancer.
- *Study II*: To evaluate the expression of the LRIG1-3 proteins, their correlation to clinical parameters and prognostic significance in vaginal cancer.
- *Study III:* To evaluate the expression of dyskerin and WRAP53ß, their correlation to clinical parameters and prognostic significance in vaginal cancer.
- Study IV: To assess the presence of CD4+ and CD8+ TILs in tumors and their correlation to clinical parameters and prognosis as well as the prognostic significance of HPV status and p16 expression in vaginal cancer.

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 STUDY POPULATION AND TUMOR SAMPLES

The study population in *study I* derived from a cohort of 130 patients consecutively diagnosed with vaginal cancer between 1978 and 1995. All patients received treatment and follow up at Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden. In order to achieve significance for difference in survival, patients were divided into two groups: short-term (death ≤ 2 years after diagnosis) and long-term (survival ≥ 8 years after diagnosis). After excluding tumor samples failing to meet eligibility criteria, 68 of the initial 130 patients were categorized into the two predefined groups, 39 patients in the short-term and 29 in the long-term group. Data regarding clinical and tumor characteristics, as well as treatment and follow-up, were obtained from medical records (6). FIGO staging (1995) was undertaken based on clinical records and histopathological results. For the purposes of this study, recurrence was defined as reappearance of disease after three months or more in patients with complete remission after primary treatment.

Studies II-III are based on a consecutive cohort of 81 patients diagnosed with vaginal cancer at hospitals in Örebro, Karlstad, Eskilstuna, and Västerås between 1975 and 2002, who were subsequently treated and followed up at Örebro University Hospital. The various study populations differ slightly with respect to the quality of tumor samples and immunohistochemical studies. *Study II* included 70 patients, *study III* 68 patients and *study IV* 69 patients. Clinical data regarding patients, treatment, and follow-up, as well as tumor size, localization, characteristics, and FIGO staging (Montreal 1994) at time of diagnosis, were previously retrospectively recovered from medical records by Lillsunde Larsson (25). For the purposes of this study cohort, recurrence was defined as reappearance of cancer after six months or more following completion of primary treatment.

Archived formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tumor biopsies were used for histological diagnosis and immunohistochemistry (thickness: 4.5-5 μ m). Following hematoxylin and eosin staining, senior pathologists reviewed and confirmed histological diagnosis and identified representative tumor sections for subsequent analyses. Histological assessment followed the WHO-recommended nomenclature (2).

3.2 METHODS

The following sections briefly describe the methodology used in the studies of this thesis. Detailed information can be found in the method section of each paper.

3.2.1 HPV analysis

10µm thick sections from the same FFPE block sections used for morphological evaluation were dewaxed with xylene-ethanol. DNA was extracted with using a MagNA Pure LC Robot. β-globin detection by realtime PCR was used to ensure sample adequacy. Presence of HPV DNA was detected using PCR with modified general primers amplification system (primer targeting L1). HPV detection was by Luminex technology, while genotyping was undertaken using multiplex bead-based hybridization. Probes for 14 high-risk HPV types and for 22 low and possible high-risk types were included in the Luminex.

Data concerning HPV status in papers II-IV were previously obtained by Lillsunde Larsson using Taqman real-time PCR with targeted E6/E7 genome segments from 12 high-risk and two low-risk HPV types (25).

3.2.2 Immunohistochemistry

The four studies are based on immunohistochemical staining using the relevant antibodies. Briefly, the immunohistochemical staining protocol includes the following steps: (1) deparaffinization with xylene and rehydration with ethanol, (2) hydrogen peroxide to block or irreversibly inactivate endogenous peroxidase in order to reduce non-specific background staining, which could lead to false positive results, (3) antigen retrieval so as to reduce or eliminate chemical modifications following preservation with formaldehyde in FFPE sections, since these may interfere with subsequent protein detection, (4) blocking with species-specific serum, if necessary, depending on subsequent steps and use of horseradish peroxidase, (5) incubation with primary antibody, (6) incubation with a secondary labeled chromogenic antibody for detection purposes, (7) counterstaining of tissue with hematoxylin to visualize cellular anatomy and orient the viewer with respect to the specific staining.

Table 2 presents a brief summary of the solutions. Detailed information concerning solutions, time intervals and temperatures are provided in the respective papers.

3.2.3 Evaluation of immunohistochemical staining

Study 1: Two observers independently performed each p16 immunostaining analysis. Cells with a clearly stained nucleus or with a distinct cytoplasmic reaction were regarded as positive. Both staining intensity and percent of immunoreactive cells were used for scoring purposes: no expression (negative); weak expression (<30% positive cells); moderate expression (30%-50% positive cells); strong expression (>50% positive cells). Samples scored as having moderate or strong staining were regarded as positive for p16. Nuclear immunostaining for Ki67 was evaluated as follows: <10% positive cells; 10%-50% positive cells; and >50% positive cells. Microscopic evaluation was performed by two senior pathologists blinded to clinical data.

Study II: The percentage of positive cells, regardless of whether staining was cytoplasmic or nuclear, was assessed on a semi-quantitative scale: 0=0% positive cells; 1=1%-25% positive cells; 2=25%-50% positive cells, and 3=>50% positive cells. The evaluation was carried out by a senior pathologist blinded to the clinical data.

Study III: Microscopic evaluation of dyskerin staining by a senior pathologist was quantified as follows: (i) negative (i.e. no positive cells observed), (ii) weak (1+), (iii) moderate (2+), and (iv) strong (3+). In addition, the location of the protein in the nucleoplasm and/or in nuclear bodies was noted.

The second protein of this study, WRAP53ß, was evaluated by two senior pathologists with respect to percent of stained tumor cells and staining intensity. Staining of tumor cells was semi-quantitatively grouped into four categories based on percentage: 0=0 negative, 1=<25%, 2=25%-50%, 3=>50%. Meanwhile, staining intensity was labeled as (i) negative (no positive cells observed), (ii) weak, (iii) moderate, or (iv) strong. *Study IV:* CD4+ and CD8+ TILs were counted in 10 high-power fields (40x) for each tumor sample. Assessment of p16 was categorized as either p16 overexpression (diffuse and strong cytoplasmatic and nuclear staining in >70% of tumor cells) or as p16-negative staining. Again, microscopic evaluation was performed by a senior pathologist.

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV
Deparaffinization	Xylene-ethanol	Xylene-ethanol	Xylene-ethanol	Xylene-ethanol
Antigen retrieval	Tris EDTA buffer	LRIG1 &2: Cell conditioning 1	Heating in citrate buffer	CD8: EnV FLEX TRS, High pH
		LRIG3: Protease 1		CD4: Cell conditioning 1
Blocking	Endogenous peroxidase activity blocked w/ Dako REAL	Ultra View Universal DAB Inhibitor with 3% H ₂ O ₂ .	2% H ₂ O ₂	CD8: EnV FLEX Peroxidase- Blocking Reagent
				CD4: peroxidase inhibitor
Primary body incubation	Primary antibody against p16 clone E6H4	Rabbit primary antibodies LRIG1, LRIG2, LRIG3	Primary anti- dyskerin ab,	Dako CD 8, clone C8/144B
	Clone MIB-1		Primay WRAP53 ab	Ventana CD4, clone SP35
				Ventana CINtec® p16, clone E6H14
Secondary antibody incubation for visualization	Visualization reagent: a horseradish peroxidase/goat anti-mouse ig- labeled dextran polymer	Ultra View Universal HRP, Multimer + Ultra View Universal DAB Chromogen + Ultra View Universal Copper	EnVision Detection Peroxidase/DAB system Kit	EnV FLEX/HRP together with EnV FLEX Substrate Working Solution
Staining	Harris hematoxylin solution	Hematoxylin and Bluing Reagent	Mayer's hematoxylin	CD8: Hematoxylin CD4 +p16: Hematoxylin and Bluing Reagent
Staining Kit	CinTec Histology Kit			CD8: EnVision FLEXCD4 +p16: U OptiView DB IHC version 6 detection kit
System used	Dako autostainer	Ventana Benchmark XT apparatus	Dako Omnis	Dako Omnis CD4 +p16: Ventana Benchmark Ultra

Table 2: Immunohoschemical solutions and antibodies used in the four studies of this thesis.

3.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

In *study I*, no power calculation was performed. The collected database is unique with respect to population size since it represents a consecutive 17-year accumulation of cases; a power calculation would not have provided a larger population size. Although the possibility that results would fail to reach significance was understood, it was still regarded as an interesting study to perform.

The four semi-quantitative groups in the p16 immunohistochemical analysis were dichotomized and analyzed for p16 expression in relation to clinical parameters, as categorized using ordinal variables, and then subjected to the *Pearson Chi-square test*, or in cases where sample size was less than five, to the *Fisher's Exact test*. Ki67 staining was similarly analyzed, but without dichotomizing the groups. The same tests were used for analysis of HPV expression in relation to clinical parameters, and in relation to p16 and Ki67. To ascertain how p16 expression correlates with short-term or long-term survival, we subjected the results to the *Spearman rank correlation* test to obtain a coefficient reflecting the strength and direction of the association. The *Mann-Whitney U test* was used as a non-parametric test to compare variables such as mean age between the groups.

For purposes of the survival analysis, we used a *Multivariate logistic regression model* that included histopathological grade and tumor size (instead of FIGO stage), as well as expression of p16 and Ki67. In *study II*, the *Pearson Chi-square test* and *Fisher's Exact test* were similarly used to study associations between ordinal variables. *Kaplan-Meier* graphs were used to provide a graphical illustration of 10-year cancer-specific survival in relation to LRIG1-3 expression. *Log-rank test* was used as the statistical basis for comparison of hazard functions in the illustrated groups. The univariate survival analysis showed age, tumor size, FIGO stage, and HPV status to be significant parameters for survival and they were therefore included together with LRIG1 in the *Cox regression multivariate analysis* for hazard ratio calculation. In *study III*, the same statistical analyses were performed. Once again, the semi-quantitative groups of the

immunohistochemical analysis of dyskerin expression were dichotomized. The *Independent sample t-test* was used for comparison of means of the groups. The Cox regression model included age, tumor size, tumor stage, and histology, as well as dyskerin.

In *study IV*, the *Pearson chi-square test, Fisher's exact test,* and *student t-test* were similarly applied as in the previous studies. CD4+ and CD8+ TILs counts were analyzed using median values, or dichotomized into quartiles, based on quartile 1-3 (low infiltration) vs quartile 4 (high infiltration). The *median test* was used to test for differences in mean values. The Cox regression model included age, tumor stage, HPV status, and the relevant parameters of interest (CD8+TILs or p16 expression). The proportional hazards assumption was examined graphically for the Cox regression models, using Schoenfeld residual plots and tested including interaction terms between time and independent variables in the regression model. P-values corresponded to two-sided tests of the interaction term regression coefficients were considered an indication of non-proportionality.

3.4 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The first study of this thesis was approved by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Stockholm, Sweden (EPN, Dnr 01-194). The following three studies were approved by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Uppsala, Sweden (EPN, Dnr 2008/294/1+ Dnr 2008/294/2 + Dnr 2008/294/3). Specific informed consent from patients was not required, according to the ethical approval. Patients were verbally informed about the clinical research database. The studies were performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

The women involved in the studies were diagnosed and treated for vaginal cancer. The studies are retrospective and their use for our purposes has no impact on the continued care of the involved women. Study participation and results will not directly benefit the patients involved.

Privacy is a necessary consideration in relation to any form of registration and the processing of information such as medical records or similar. The risk associated with this project is limited to perceived violation of privacy and a reduced confidence related to established registers within the healthcare system. Proper record management and anonymization of data reduce risk of a negative patient experience.

One challenge encountered by this project is the size of the study population. Research on rare cancers is often based on small study populations with the associated risk of type 2 errors (i.e. hypotheses about differences between groups may be rejected because of a low power study).

Patient risk in this study is very limited, and their inclusion in the study may provide future help for women diagnosed with this disease by adding to the knowledge basis, with the ultimate aim of reducing mortality, morbidity, and suffering; consequently, the benefits may be regarded as significantly outweighing the risks.

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The overall objective of this PhD thesis is to identify prognostic factors of potential significance in primary vaginal cancer, with special focus on HPV. To accomplish this goal, we investigated the prognostic significance of HPV status (*study I*) and expression of: p16 (*studies I and IV*), Ki67 (*study I*), LRIG1-3 (*study II*), dyskerin (*study III*), and WRAP53ß (*study III*), as well as CD4+ and CD8+ TILs infiltration, including the combination of HPV status and p16 expression (*study IV*) in relation to patient and tumor characteristics.

4.1 HPV STATUS (STUDY I)

4.1.1 Results

In *study I*, analysis for HPV was possible in 44 of 68 (65%) patients, 19 (43%) of whom were shown to be HPV-positive. HPV16 was predominant in this study, with 12 patients (63%) positive for HPV16, 3 (16%) for HPV45, and 1 (5.3%) for the following types: HPV18, HPV35, HPV56, and HPV68. All these HPV-positive patients demonstrated moderate to strong expression of Ki67, albeit without statistical significance. No statistically significant correlation between HPV positivity and clinical or tumor characteristics was found, except for histopathological grade, where all HPV-positive tumors were moderately to poorly differentiated. HPV-positive patients were more likely to be diagnosed with stage II or III disease and tumor located in the upper third of the vagina than were HPV-negative patients. The two patients with adenocarcinomas who were included were both HPV negative. HPV status did not correlate with either risk of relapse or survival.

The results of the analysis concerning HPV expression in relation to p16 expression and survival will be presented below.

4.1.2 Discussion

The prevalence of HPV in our study cohort is lower than in most other prior studies, which generally report a pooled prevalence of 65.5%-69.9% in relation to vaginal cancers (23, 200, 201). Nevertheless, the studies included in the metanalyses demonstrate considerable variation in HPV prevalence.

As in other HPV-related anogenital cancers, including vaginal squamous cell cancers, HPV16 was found to be the predominant HPV type in *study I* (19). Among the few additional HPV types found, none appeared to be more dominant. Both patients with adenocarcinomas who were included in this study were HPV-negative. Prior studies have found considerably lower prevalence of HPV expression in cases of adenocarcinoma than in squamous cell carcinoma, for which reason different etiological pathways have been postulated (200).

The present study was unable to confirm our hypothesis that HPV-positive cancers may be associated with superior survival compared with HPV-negative cancers. In other types of anogenital and head and neck cancers, HPV-positive tumors are associated with better prognosis than HPV-negative tumors, which holds potential implications for treatment recommendations (125, 202). Studies on the impact of HPV infection on overall survival in vaginal cancer show inconsistent results, even though HPV positivity is associated with a more favorable prognosis. Alonso *et al.* demonstrate that HPV-positive patients in early-stage disease have a better prognosis than HPV-negative patients (35). Brunner *et al.* report that HPV-positive patients who are at

a more advanced tumor stage (\geq III) demonstrate improved survival compared with HPV-negative patients at comparable tumor stages (68). Lillsunde Larsson et al. also found that HPV-positive patients demonstrate significantly superior overall survival rates (25). In two other studies, HPV positivity was associated with a trend toward better overall survival, but the results were not significant (87, 203). Finally, two additional studies found no association between HPV status and survival (22, 87).

The prognostic value of HPV type also remains to be determined. In cervical cancer, improved survival was found among patients who were HPV16/HPV18-positive compared with those infected by other types; however, results from other similar studies were inconclusive (202, 204). HPV16-positive vaginal cancers have previously been shown to be associated with better survival compared with other HPV types, but this remains to be confirmed in larger cohorts (25). The results of *study I* add to the evidence that implementation of an HPV vaccination program could ultimately reduce the number of women diagnosed with vaginal cancer.

The insignificant results regarding the prognostic impact of HPV status in *study I*, as well as the variable results found in previous studies, might be explained by small sample sizes, retrospective study design, and/or variations in HPV DNA detection methods, PCR primer type, and other methodological differences used for HPV detection (88). The material in *study I* is not consecutive, and bias may have been introduced as a result of exclusion of patients who survived between 2 and 8 years. One study concerning the prognostic value of HPV status in cervical cancer cites other factors that potentially make HPV detection in tumors difficult, including: low viral load of HPV DNA in tumor samples, loss of the L1 region, poor sample quality, and partial loss of HPV because of genome integration (107). Their findings suggest that HPV DNA may become increasingly difficult to detect at later stages of disease.

Regarding the analyses and results of this thesis, it is important to note that the data concerning HPV status in *study IV* were obtained through HPV analysis with real-time PCR as in *study I*, but using a slightly different technology (25). The HPV prevalence in *study IV*, which was based on prior findings, was 53.6% (37/69), 70.3% of which were HPV16-positive. Contrary to the findings of *study* I, HPV-positivity in tumors was associated with a significant improvement in overall and cancer-specific survival. These factors may contribute to the difference in results between *studies I* and *IV* that considered p16 in relation to clinical characteristics, HPV, and survival.

4.2 TUMOR SUPPRESSOR P16 (STUDIES I AND IV)

4.2.1 Results

Immunohistochemical analysis showed that most vaginal tumor samples expressed p16; in *study I*, 23.5% of tumors displayed moderate expression and 54.4% strong expression. S*tudy IV* showed similar findings with 62% of tumors expressing p16.

High expression of p16 correlated significantly with moderate to poor differentiation (p=0.004) in *study I*, while this was not seen in *study IV*. Neither study showed any association between p16 expression and other prognostic factors such as age, tumor size, stage, histology, or tumor location.

In *study I*, moderate to strong expression (>30% of the cells) of p16 was found in 95% of HPV-positive patients, while only one HPV-positive tumor was p16-negative. Among HPV-negative tumors, 68%

demonstrated p16 overexpression. Among tumors that were HPV16-positive, all but one demonstrated overexpression of p16.

Study IV found that 84% of the HPV-positive tumors were also positive for p16 (>70% of cells), while 38% of the HPV-negative tumors were p16-positive.

Overexpression of p16 emerged as a factor of prognostic relevance in both *studies I* and *IV*. In *study I*, high expression of p16 was found in 90% of tumors from long-term survivors. The univariate logistic regression analysis showed a statistically significant correlation between survival and higher p16 expression (p=0.045). In the multivariate analysis, including histopathological grade, tumor size, and Ki67 expression, the correlation between p16 overexpression and survival no longer achieved statistical significance. In *study IV*, p16-positive tumors were associated with statistically significant better 5-year cancer-specific survival (log rank, p=0.002; unadjusted HR 0.347; 95% CI 0.172-0.699) and overall survival (log rank test, p=0.005; Cox regression adjusted HR 0.398; 95% CI 0.214-0.742)



Figure 10: Kaplan-Meier curves showing 5-year overall survival for p16-negative and p16-positive cancers (log rank test, p=0.005; Cox regression adjusted HR 0.398; 95% CI 0.214-0.742).

In *study I*, patients with p16-positive and HPV-negative tumors had better survival (p=0.028). In *study IV*, however, 5-year overall survival differed significantly among tumors, depending on HPV status and p16 expression (log rank test <0.001, unadjusted HR 1.645; 95% CI 1.283-2.109) (Figure 11A). Survival was significantly worse among patients with p16-negative and HPV-negative tumors compared with those having p16-negative and HPV-positive tumors, or with those whose tumors were p16-positive, regardless of HPV status (log rank p<0.001; adjusted HR 5.125; 95% CI 2.497-10.520) ().



Figure 11: Kaplan-Meier curves showing 5-year overall survival in (A) p16-negative/HPV-negative cancers compared with p16-negative/HPV-positive or p16-positive/HPV positive or negative tumors (log rank test <0.001, unadjusted HR 1.645; 95% CI 1.283-2.109) and (B) p16-negative and HPV-negative tumors vs p16 negative and HPV positive or p16-positive tumors regardless of HPV status (log rank p<0.001; adjusted HR 5.125; 95% CI 2.497-10.520).

4.2.2 Discussion

The results of *study I* and *study II* provide evidence to support active involvement of HPV in the carcinogenesis of vaginal cancer. Overexpression of p16 in vaginal cancer has been investigated before and our results, with p16 overexpressed in a majority of tumor samples, are in line with previous studies; pooled prevalence of p16 overexpression in vaginal cancer was 72% in a metanalysis by Bertoli *et al.* including six studies (of which one is *study I*) (200).

The results of the two studies differ regarding p16-positivity in HPV-negative tumors, with *study I* showing a higher proportion of p16-positive/HPV-negative tumors. Studies addressing both p16 and HPV prevalence in vaginal cancer are scarce. A study by Alemany *et al.* considered 146 cases of vaginal cancer, in which p16 overexpression was found in 87% of the 110 HPV-positive vaginal cancer cases (21). Only five (14%) of the HPV-negative tumors were p16-positive. In the meta-analysis by Bertoli *et al.* 89% of HPV-positive tumors were also positive for p16, while only 39% of HPV-negative tumors showed p16 expression (200). This raises the issue of whether there was adequate detection of HPV DNA in the tumor samples of our first study, which could also have been subjected to additional testing, such as by real-time E7 and E6 PCR (107).

As previously discussed in the background section of this thesis, immunohistochemical detection of p16 can be regarded as a reliable surrogate marker for HPV-induced transformation, for which reason it is overexpressed in HPV-infected (pre)cancerous tissues of the cervix (56, 57) as well as in vulvar (58, 59) and anal cancer (29). However, it is noteworthy that p16 overexpression is not equivalent to evidence of HPV involvement as an etiological factor, as suggested by our results showing overexpression of p16 in the absence of HPV infection (63). Malignancies of almost every type have displayed mutations or molecular alterations of p16 (205).

The results from *study I* and *study IV* point to p16 expression as a potential prognostic factor for vaginal cancer. *Study I* showed that p16 overexpression was linked to long-term survival in the univariate analysis, while *study IV* showed that p16-positivity correlated to both overall and cancer-specific survival. The value of immunostaining for p16 as a prognostic biomarker has previously been proposed. A study that included 31 cases of vaginal cancer showed that p16 expression has a significant impact on overall survival across all FIGO stages (74). A similar study that included 32 cases of vaginal cancer treated with radiotherapy, with or without chemotherapy, showed improved overall survival and lower risk of recurrent cancer among p16-positive cases (37). Conversely, in another study that included 57 vaginal cancer patients, p16 was overexpressed in almost all HPV-positive cases, yet was not found to relate to survival, even though HPV positivity considered alone had shown a significant impact on prognosis in early-stage disease (35).

Study I shows that patients with p16-positive and HPV-negative tumors have significantly better survival (p=0.028). In contrast, in *study IV*, the Kaplan-Meier analysis illustrates a substantially worse survival among patients with p16-negative/HPV-negative tumors; when the groups are dichotomized into tumors that are p16-negative/HPV-negative vs all other remaining tumors, the dual negativity pertaining to p16 expression and HPV status emerges as an independent significant negative prognostic marker in vaginal cancer. The reverse has also been demonstrated by studies on HPV-related anogenital and head- and neck cancers, which found that double positivity in regard to p16 expression and HPV status are associated with a superior prognosis (123, 206, 207).

The inconsistency of results between *study I and study IV* regarding the combined analysis of HPV status and p16 expression may possibly be explained by the differences in defining p16 expression, as previously described in the methods section. Another possible explanation may lie in the limited information concerning HPV status in *study I*. Considering that p16 may have served as a surrogate marker for HPV-positivity, it is possible that some of the tumors considered to be HPV-positive were not subjected to HPV analysis, but showed p16 overexpression.

In conclusion, since testing for p16 is less complicated in the clinical setting than HPV analysis, our results emphasize the need for further clarification of the clinical value of p16 analysis. The study results also highlight the prognostic value of combined testing for HPV and p16, since dual negativity of in these two factors is associated with significantly poorer survival.

4.3 PROGRESSION MARKER Ki67 (STUDY I)

4.3.1 Results

The degree of expression of Ki67 in the 68 tumor samples was as follows: 7 tumors (10.3%) showing <10% positive cells, 38 (55.9%) showing 10%-50% positive cells, and 23 (33.8%) showing >50% positive cells. There was a significant association between Ki67 expression and both tumor size (p=0.047) and degree of differentiation (p<0.001), but no correlation was found with either short- or long-term survival (p=0.46).

4.3.2 Discussion

This study assessed Ki67, determined through immunohistochemistry, as a potential prognostic biomarker of interest; it is already clinically accessible and serves as a reliable indicator of cell proliferation. Ki67 was strongly expressed in a majority of cells. These results indicate a higher rate of proliferation in poorly differentiated tumors and are also associated with larger tumor size. Ki67 may possibly be of value for histopathological grading of vaginal cancer since, together with p16, it is an indicator of poorly differentiated tumors.

Ki67 has been shown to be of clinical value in various gynecological cancers. HPV induces cellular proliferative activity, thereby often upregulating Ki67 in HPV-infected cells. Previous studies on squamous cell carcinoma of the lower genital tract show that Ki67 is associated with worse clinical outcome, increased tumor size, and more advanced FIGO stage at diagnosis (203). In cervical adenocarcinoma, increased Ki67 expression in low-grade tumors and in tumors that are higher stage at diagnosis correlated with worse prognosis (208). It has been postulated that expression of Ki67 may be of similar prognostic value in vulvar carcinoma (209). Increased Ki67 expression in vaginal cancer has previously been demonstrated, but not associated with survival, FIGO stage, or tumor size (38, 75, 203).

One exception is a study including 80 patients treated with radiation therapy, where Ki67/MIB1 remained as an independent risk factor associated with better prognosis in the multivariate survival analysis (71). In summary, the results of *study I* indicate that Ki67 expression may lack prognostic relevance in vaginal cancer.

4.4 LRIG1, LRIG2 AND LRIG3 (STUDY II)

4.4.1 Results

Our study of 70 patients with vaginal cancer found that 83% of the tumors showed high expression of both LRIG1 and LRIG2, while LRIG3 was not expressed at all in 53% of tumors and was not highly expressed in any of the remaining tumor samples.

High expression of LRIG1 showed a positive correlation with HPV (p=0.0047) and a negative correlation with cancer progression and was thereby associated with a higher cure rate (p=0.0004) and better cancer-specific survival rate (log-rank test: 0.011). The improvement in survival was most pronounced in HPV-negative cancers (log-rank test: p=0.027). LRIG1 expression remained as an independent statistically significant factor for survival in the Cox regression multivariable analysis (HR 0.408; 95% CI: 0.18-0.91). The LRIG proteins did not correlate with any clinical or tumor characteristics. Neither LRIG2 nor LRIG3 expression correlated to survival rates.



Figure 12. Cancer-specific survival depending on LRIG1 expression in immunohistochemical staining (Score 3 vs score 0-2). Log-rank test showed a statistically significant difference (p=0.011).

4.4.2 Discussion

Study III, to our knowledge the first study performed on the LRIG proteins in vaginal cancer, shows that LRIG1 expression was associated with improved cancer-specific survival. The result of this study expands knowledge from previous studies investigating the importance of the LRIG proteins as potential prognostic factors in cancers where HPV infection is an important etiological factor.

LRIG1 correlated significantly with HPV positivity, but not with any other clinical parameter or tumor characteristic in our cohort. The association of LRIG1 with positive HPV status is consistent with findings from studies of oropharyngeal cancer, where LRIG1 expression correlated with HPV positivity, while an inverse correlation was found between LRIG2 and HPV status (153). Our results found no association between HPV status and either LRIG2 or LRIG3. In contrast, high expression of LRIG3 has been shown to correlate with HPV positivity in both normal cervical epithelium and in precancerous cervical lesions (210).

High LRIG1 expression was shown in the multivariate analysis to be an independent factor indicative of superior patient survival when considering risk factors such as patient age, tumor stage, tumor size, and HPV status. The difference in survival rate in regard to LRIG1 expression was even more pronounced in HPV-negative tumors.

Our study indicates that LRIG1 holds prognostic value as a biomarker, while immunohistochemical assessment of LRIG2 and LRIG3 showed no association with clinical parameters, HPV status, or survival. Prior research has aimed to explore the association between the LRIG proteins and cancers in which HPV infection plays an etiological role. HPV-positive oropharyngeal tumors with high LRIG1 expression was shown to correlate with very good prognosis (153). LRIG1 expression correlates with HPV positivity, while the opposite holds true concerning the association between LRIG2 and HPV status. High expression of LRIG3 correlated with HPV positivity in both normal cervical epithelium and in precancerous cervical lesions (210). However, these results conflict with those from a study on vulvar squamous cell carcinoma, in which high LRIG2 expression, but not LRIG1 expression, was shown to be a significant independent prognostic factor for overall survival. In contrast to our results, absence of or weak LRIG1 staining was associated with better overall survival in HPV-negative tumors (211).

In cervical cancer, the LRIG proteins have been proposed as useful prognostic markers when considering different stages and histological types of disease. Briefly summarized, LRIG1 has been associated with improved survival in both early-stage squamous cervical cancer (212, 213) and in cervical adenocarcinoma (214). LRIG2, however, was found to be associated with worse prognosis in early-stage squamous cell cervical cancer. Interestingly, the combination of high LRIG2 and low LRIG1 was found to be a predictor of very poor prognosis in these women (212). Finally, LRIG3 expression did not correlate with 10-year survival in squamous cell cervical cancer. In contrast, a high expression of LRIG3 in cervical adenocarcinoma was shown to be a statistically significant independent predictor of improved patient survival (214). In conclusion, the value of LRIG proteins as prognostic factors in gynecological cancers has not yet been fully established, for which reason future studies will contribute to improved understanding.

As previously described in this thesis, much more is known about the function of the LRIG1 protein than its LRIG2 and LRIG3 counterparts. LRIG1 is currently considered to be a tumor suppressor, acting as a regulator of growth factor signaling (140, 141), while LRIG2 is thought to be a tumor promoter (160, 212, 215), and LRIG3 a tumor suppressor (210, 216). In view of the elusive functions of LRIG2 and LRIG3 it is difficult to draw any conclusions from the fact that we could not report any significant results regarding LRIG2 and LRIG3. On the other hand, in light of the small population size in this study, it is noteworthy that LRIG1 emerges as a significant predictor of survival, which emphasizes its potential use as a prognostic factor. In conclusion, prior studies differ as to the prognostic value of LRIG proteins in gynecological cancers, but future studies should increase our understanding. The question of whether possible mechanistic connections exist between the LRIG proteins and HPV infection requires further investigation.

4.5 DYSKERIN (STUDY III)

4.5.1 Results

The majority of dyskerin expression was reflected by weak cell staining intensity in 54 (79.4%) tumor samples, while moderate staining was seen in 5 (7.4%) and strong intensity in 8 (11.7%). Expression was seen in either the nuclear bodies, or in nucleoplasm, or in both in the case of 39 (57.3%) tumor samples. Only one sample was negative for dyskerin.

Analysis regarding possible associations between dyskerin expression and tumor and patient characteristics showed that higher expression correlates with a high degree of differentiation (p=0.032). Expression was more commonly found in basaloid and keratinizing tumors than in other histological types. Otherwise, no significant association was found between dyskerin expression and any other tumor or patient characteristic. Although not rising to statistical significance, it should be mentioned that dyskerin expression was found in 81% of HPV-negative tumors, compared with just 66% in HPV-positive tumors.

Dyskerin expression in vaginal cancer as it relates to disease progression and survival showed significant differences between the dichotomized groups. Tumors with high dyskerin expression were associated with significantly worse cancer-specific survival compared with those showing low expression (log rank: p=0.009) (Figure 13). Dyskerin expression was found in the Cox multivariate proportional hazards analysis to be a statistically significant independent risk factor in this regard (HR 3.701; 95% CI 1.094-12.517) Mean survival was 50 months in patients with dyskerin overexpression, compared with 92 months in patients with

low expression (p=0.017). All but one of the 14 patients who suffered recurrent disease with distant metastases demonstrated high expression in their tumor samples (p= 0.0001). Moreover, a lower proportion of patients demonstrating high dyskerin expression achieved primary cure, compared with those demonstrating low expression (81% vs 94%), while recurrence rate was higher in this group (40% vs 19%), but neither of these findings were statistically significant.



Figure 13: Cancer-specific survival rates depending on immunohistochemical staining intensity of dyskerin staining. Group 0=negative or 1+ staining. Group 1= 2+ or 3+ staining (log rank test; p=0.009).

4.5.2 Discussion

In this study dyskerin proved to be of interest as a potential prognostic factor in vaginal cancer. In our cohort of tumor samples from vaginal cancer patients, a significant association was found between high dyskerin expression and worse cancer-specific survival. Moreover, high dyskerin expression was more frequently observed in tumor samples from poorly differentiated cancers and among patients with shorter survival times, lower primary cure rates, higher overall recurrence rates, and in those with recurrent disease with distant metastasis, which suggests that tumors demonstrating high expression are more prone to be aggressive and to progress. These finding are well in line with the knowledge that altered dyskerin expression is associated with tumor formation and with worse survival in a variety of cancers (217-219).

We have hypothesized that dyskerin upregulation may stimulate formation of the telomerase holoenzyme complex in vaginal cancer. Along with E6 activation of hTERT, the telomerase holoenzyme complex plays an important role in development and progression of HPV-induced cancer. Since dyskerin expression was found in a lower proportion of HPV-positive tumors, it has been suggested that dyskerin expression is essential for telomerase activity in these tumors.

Dyskerin overexpression, as it relates to a seemingly more aggressive tumor phenotype, has also been linked to activation of several other oncogenic pathways, independent of the telomerase complex and cell immortalization mechanism (171). For example, dyskerin expression has been found to play an oncogenic role in MYC (217), in relation to the transcription factor Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (*HIF-1*) (218), and to an increase in specific rRNA modifications involved in the translational processes in ribosomes (171). However, the functional mechanisms of dyskerin in relation to HPV and vaginal cancer remain to be elucidated.

4.6 WRAP53ß (STUDY III)

4.6.1 Results

In *study III*, 61 of 68 samples could be assessed for WRAP53ß staining intensity, fraction of stained cells, and location of this protein within the cells. The majority of tumor samples expressed WRAP53ß. Although it could be found in either nuclear bodies or in the nucleoplasm, in most samples it was found in both compartments. Only two samples showed diffuse staining. No correlation was found between either expression or location of this marker and tumor or patient characteristics, nor with survival.

4.6.2 Discussion

WRAP53ß was not shown to be of any significance for the diagnosis of vaginal cancer. The role of this protein in relation to telomerase transportation and function appears to be unaltered. It was expressed in a majority of tumor samples; in previous findings the level of WRAP53β has been shown to be higher in several cancer cells than in normal cells (220). Among patients with rectal cancer undergoing radiation therapy, overexpression of WRAP53β in metastases was linked with better prognosis (221). The importance of the WRAP53β location has also been demonstrated in breast cancer, where nuclear location was associated with better outcome than subcellular location (222). Analogous findings were observed in head and neck cancer, where nuclear expression of WRAP53β was associated with better prognosis than expression in the cytoplasm (223). Loss of nuclear expression was associated with enhanced radioresistance. Since WRAP53β has not been studied in relation to HPV status in head and neck cancer, or in other cancers to our knowledge, no comparisons can be made.

In gynecological malignancies, WRAP53ß has to date only been studied in epithelial ovarian cancer. Again, nuclear expression of both WRAP53ß mRNA and protein were associated with shorter survival. In tumors with low levels of WRAP5ß expression, downregulation of key factors involved in DNA damage response was observed (224).

Although we were unable to demonstrate the value of WRAP53ß as a potential prognostic factor in vaginal cancer, this possibility certainly deserves further investigation to elucidate its role as a potential new biomarker that could contribute to novel treatment strategies and improved survival.

4.7 CD4+ AND CD8+ TILs (STUDY IV)

4.7.1 Results

The mean and median CD4+ TIL counts were higher in HPV-positive tumors than in HPV-negative tumors (median value 3.7. vs 3.5; median test p=0.824), though the differences failed to reach significance). The number of CD8+ TILs was also higher in HPV-positive tumors than in HPV-negative tumors, but again failed to reach statistical significance (median value 12.3 vs 5.8; median test, p=0.330).

Concerning p16-positive cancers, the CD4+ and CD8+ TIL counts yielded higher mean values of TILs with wider ranges. The median value of CD8+ TIL counts was significantly higher in p16-positive cancers (median test, p=0.032), but not the median value of CD4+ TIL counts (median test, p=0.336).

Survival analyses were performed using the dichotomized groups, pitting the TILs counts in the first to third quartiles against those in the fourth quartile. Kaplan-Meier curves indicate that a higher density of both CD4+

TILs and CD8+ TILs is associated with a more favorable prognosis, albeit without significance (CD4+ TILs, logrank, p=0.325; CD8+ TILs, log rank, p=0.127) (Figure 14). Similarly, in patients with FIGO stage II-IV tumors and higher density of CD4+ and CD8+ TILs appear to have a better prognosis, albeit without reaching significance (log rank, p=0.148 and p=0.160, respectively) (data not shown).



Figure 14: Kaplan-Meier curves showing 5-year overall survival in patients relation to density of (A) CD4+ TILs and (B) CD8+ TILs, dichotomized into low and high densities (log rank p=0.325 respectively p=0.127).

Finally, tumors with both p16-positivity and high-density infiltration of CD8+ TILs showed significantly better survival (log rank, p=0.003) (Figure 15).



Figure 15: Kaplan-Meier curves demonstrating significantly improved survival among patients whose tumors demonstrated both p16positivity and high-density infiltration of CD8+ TILs (log rank, p=0.003).

4.7.2 Discussion

In summary, the results of this study indicate that high infiltration density of both CD4+ and CD8+ TILs in HPV-positive tumors appears to be associated with better survival. However, since the data favoring this trend failed to reach significance, the results require confirmation in a larger study. Only those tumors characterized by high-density infiltration of CD8+ TILs in combination with p16-positivity were shown to have a significantly better prognosis.

The rationale behind examining the infiltration density of CD4+ and CD8+TILs in relation to HPV status, p16 expression, and to prognosis is rooted in the hypothesis that the improvement in prognosis conferred by positive HPV status may relate to enhanced immune surveillance within the tumor microenvironment (225). Studies on HPV-driven anogenital and oropharyngeal cancers provide evidence of an immunological difference between HPV-negative and HPV-positive tumors: higher numbers of infiltrating CD4+ and CD8+ TILs were observed in HPV-positive cancers (192, 198, 226). In our tumors samples, we found that HPV-positive tumors had a higher median and mean number of CD4+ and CD8+TILs with a wider range in counts than did HPV-negative tumors. The results are in line with previous findings, but without reaching statistical significance, possibly due to an underpowered study design, for which reason further investigation is warranted.

The 5-year overall survival curves that take CD4+ and CD8+TIL infiltration into account are in line with previously published studies of cervical cancer and oropharyngeal cancers in which an active immune response, especially as reflected by higher CD8+ TIL infiltration, correlates with better survival among HPV-positive cancer patients (197, 198, 227, 228). Tumors that were positive for p16 and demonstrated high CD8+ TIL infiltration were associated with significantly better survival. However, the reasons for this finding remain to be clarified and further insight may be provided by studies that consider expression of cytokines and immune cell infiltration of specific subgroups of cytotoxic T-cells, as discussed more in paper IV. In conclusion, the results from this exploratory study will hopefully provide initial motivation to further investigate the role of the tumor microenvironment in relation to tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in HPV-positive and HPV-negative vaginal cancer.

4.8 CONCLUDING REMARKS

A few issues concerning the research and studies included in this thesis deserve additional reflection. Primary vaginal carcinoma is a rare cancer of the female genital tract. Research into this rare cancer is sparse due to its low incidence (229). RARECARE, the leading network on rare cancers in Europe, defines a rare cancer as one in which less than 6 cases per 100 000 individuals occurs per year (230). According to this definition, the aggregate incidence of all rare cancers amounts to 22% of all cancers (231). Rare cancers are associated with a number of concerns regarding inequities in diagnosis and treatment, which may result in suboptimal clinical outcomes for such patients (232), as reflected in survival statistics, which are worse for rare cancers than for common cancers (Figure 16) (230).



Figure 16. The lack in rare cancers. Reprinted with permission from Oxford University Press; Kawai A, *et al.* Rare cancers in Japan: definition, clinical features and future perspectives. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2020 Sep 5;50(9):970-975.

Importantly, clinical studies on rare cancers pose distinct challenges. Methodological recommendations for clinical studies of rare cancers have been formulated to encourage research, with the ultimate goal of avoiding discrimination against these patients due to the rarity of their disease (233). The strategy includes observational clinical studies on selected patient subgroups, especially pertaining to natural history and clinical characteristics. Moreover, clinical studies, which in the best of cases may result in great benefit, are justifiable, even though the target population is small. Although associated with a higher degree of uncertainty due to the paucity of eligible patients, an alternative statistical approach using Bayesian analysis is worth consideration (233, 234). In the Bayesian approach, concerns over a statistically significant p-value are replaced by an alternative statistical assessment. This methodology relies on probabilities as they relate to statistical inference, which may allow the data to approach clinical significance, rather than relying on frequentist hypothesis testing, in which the p-value determines statistical significance.

The past few decades have seen the emergence of new opportunities concerning methodologies capable of overcoming challenges and facilitating research on rare cancers. Examples include social media patient communities, genome characterization, studies on cell lines and patient-derived xenografts, as well as small-molecule screening (235). Translational cancer medicine has made enormous technological advances in the fields of various "omics." However, immunohistochemistry, unlike high throughput quantitative techniques, allows for both qualitative and quantitative assessment of molecular markers in tumor tissue and thereby retains some pragmatic value since such markers are often routinely required for tumor analysis (236).

The weaknesses that are common to the four studies included in this thesis should also be addressed. The study population and biological materials are dated, which may render results with poor external validity. Although retrospective cohort studies provide a useful, practical design for study of a rare disease while allowing for reliable follow-up data, the study cohort should be updated since treatment and survival trends improve over time.

We have conducted four studies based on well-established immunohistochemistry methods. Since immunohistochemical detection of proteins in formalin-fixed, paraffin embedded samples is still the foundation of current routine clinical pathology, it is important to recognize the challenges and inherent limitations of this method. The repeatability, reproducibility, sensitivity, and quantification of results from immunohistochemical assays may be called into question. While standardized protocols for tissue handling, immunohistochemical methodology, and scoring may help to improve the quality of results, they are not always available, as was the case in our exploratory studies of novel biomarkers. This point can also be illustrated by the inconsistency in defining p16 expression in study I and study IV, which made comparisons more difficult. Moreover, there was a lack of strict adherence to the REMARK recommendations discussed in the introduction.

Immunohistochemistry is a semi-quantitative, rather than a quantitative, method, with recognized issues pertaining to subjective interpretation (237). Intraobserver and interobserver variation have been demonstrated in multiple studies. Measures could have been taken to improve the reliability of the results from immunohistochemical analysis; percent agreement and kappa are examples of metrics that are often used to evaluate interobserver variability. On one hand, we need to question the clinical validity and applicability of conclusions drawn from studies showing prognostic differences that different pathologists may have assessed differently. On the other hand, it is important to remember that immunohistochemistry provides us with low-cost feasible methodology and, even more importantly, valuable morphological information to aid in the assessment of the distribution of molecular markers in tumor tissue. As always, larger populations and sample sizes are preferable in the quest to further define and confirm observations arising from the studies.

This thesis presents four studies aimed at investigating both novel and established biomarkers with a focus on patient outcome and survival in primary vaginal cancer. These studies, possessing both exploratory and validating intent, apply clinically feasible methodology to investigate various aspects of the carcinogenic process at both the molecular and tissue levels. In summary, we found that p16 may be of interest as a prognostic marker, especially when combined with assessment of HPV status. Moreover, the LRIG1 and dyskerin molecular markers emerge as potential novel prognostic marker of interest. CD8+ TIL infiltration may also be of interest as a prognostic factor, when considered together with HPV status and p16 expression. The underlying biological mechanisms in HPV-negative vaginal cancers should be further investigated and additional studies with larger cohorts performed to clarify the prognostic impact of HPV in vaginal cancer. Further studies are needed to identify and validate biomarkers and to pursue their usefulness for clinical prognostication at time of diagnosis in order to improve clinical outcome and survival in women with vaginal cancer.

5 CONCLUSIONS

Study I:

- HPV was present in 43% of the analyzed tumor samples. HPV only correlated with low histopathological grade, and not with survival.
- Ki67 was expressed in 10%-50% of cells in 56% of the analyzed tumors and expressed in >50% of cells in 34% of the tumors. Ki67 correlated with histopathological grade and tumor size, but not with survival.
- p16 overexpression was associated with poorly differentiated tumors and with presence of HPV. P16 overexpression was also associated with long-term survival in vaginal cancer. However, it was not an independent prognostic factor.

Study II:

- LRIG1 and LRIG 2 expression were both high in 83% of tumors, while LRIG3 expression was absent or low.
- LRIG1 expression correlated with HPV positivity and with cancer-specific survival. LRIG2 and LRIG3 did not correlate with clinical manifestations, tumor characteristics, or survival.
- LRIG1 was associated with improved survival and may thus potentially serve as a prognostic factor in vaginal cancer.

Study III:

- Dyskerin was expressed in all but one tumor sample; the majority of tumors showed weak staining intensity.
- WRAP53ß was also expressed in the majority of tumor samples, but without significant association to clinical variables or survival.
- Dyskerin, but not WRAP53ß, was associated with improved survival and may thus potentially serve as a prognostic factor in vaginal cancer.

Study IV:

- Higher infiltration of CD4+ and CD8+ TILs in the tumor microenvironment was observed in HPVpositive and in p16 positive tumors.
- Higher infiltration of CD4+ and CD8+ TILs suggests improved survival, but these results failed to
 reach significance with the exception of higher infiltration of CD8+ TILs in tumors overexpressing
 p16. These results indicate that CD4+ and CD8+ TILs infiltration of the tumor microenvironment
 may hold biological significance and be of interest for study in a larger cohort to achieve better
 power.
- Overexpression of p16 in tumor samples was associated with superior survival in vaginal cancer.
- The dual negativity of HPV status and p16 overexpression was associated with inferior overall survival.
- The value of HPV as a prognostic factor remains uncertain, but analysis of HPV status in addition to other biomarkers, such as LRIG1, dyskerin, and p16, may hold more value for prognostication.

6 POINTS OF PERSPECTIVE

The scope of HPV related disease will see rapid change in years to come. The World Health Organization has launched a global strategy as a call for action to eliminate HPV and cervical cancer as a public health problem. This strategy targets 90% HPV vaccination coverage in girls, along with intensified screening and surveillance of individuals at risk. Increased HPV vaccination coverage in women will reduce the burden of precancerous and cancerous lesions not only in the cervix, but at all anogenital and oropharyngeal sites. However, measures aimed at primary prevention using HPV vaccination will not impact the prevalence of vaginal cancer for decades and in the meantime, it is possible that the number of vaginal cancers will increase as the population ages.

Concerning secondary prevention, learning how to identify women at risk of developing vaginal cancer in the future is important. Studying the prior history of HPV infection in patients who were later diagnosed with vaginal cancer may provide additional knowledge regarding the natural history of the disease. A study is planned to investigate the prevalence of previous HPV infections in screening cytologies. This may also provide knowledge to formulate recommendations for surveillance of HPV-positive women with vaginal lesions. Close monitoring of the impact of the recently introduced screening program on vaginal precancerous and cancerous lesions is also warranted.

Recently, promising studies have been performed on methylation signatures for early detection of cervical cancer and for identification of subtypes in an effort to stratify prognosis in cervical cancer patients. By extension, plans for studies of methylation markers in vaginal cancer are underway as we update our database on vaginal cancers to cover the years 2003 and forward.

Future research on tertiary prevention of vaginal cancer should take into account HPV status when assessing different interventions, which could culminate in changes in clinical practice. We have performed hypothesisgenerating studies on potential novel molecular markers relating to HPV status, where we found LRIG1 and dyskerin to be the most interesting for further investigation. Future *in vitro* studies on cell lines using RNA sequencing analysis may clarify the molecular mechanisms for up- and downregulation of these markers. Based on the results of the fourth study of this thesis, future studies should investigate T-cell subpopulations, especially regulatory T cells, in order to further deepen understanding of the immunological processes in vaginal cancer. Combined analysis of the prognostic factors p16 and HPV status in vaginal cancer emerges from this thesis as the finding with the most relevant clinical application. This study in particular should be performed on a larger, updated study cohort since it could provide a prognostic classification tool that could easily be integrated into clinical practice.

Because clinical studies have generally focused on more common gynecological cancers, such as cervical cancer, treatment strategies for these cancers are based on a broader body of knowledge, but similar or identical treatment strategies could potentially be used in vaginal cancer provided that they share the same etiology and prognostic factors. By taking etiology and prognosis into account, individualized treatment strategies can be devised which eliminate over- and undertreatment. Regardless, both HPV-positive and HPV-negative vaginal cancers, although rare, deserve further attention in the future.

7 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my warmest and most sincere gratitude to everyone who contributed to this project, in particular:

Sonia Andersson, my main supervisor, for accepting a doctoral student from a county hospital, for sticking with me through all these years, for always finding a way out of dead ends and for presenting me to new, interesting collaborations. Thank you for sharing your enthusiasm and scientific knowledge, for always answering emails in the middle of the night and for your guidance through this project. Thank you, Sonia, for giving me this opportunity.

My co-supervisors Kristina Hellman for offering the possibility of this project, for sharing your own previous work and all your help with the studies, David Lindquist for kindness and willingness to contribute with your knowledge within the field, and Ann-Cathrin Hellström for great enthusiasm and encouragement for this project. Thank you, Gabriella Lillsunde Larsson, for coming into this project with new energy, for bringing me into new projects and letting me get into more research.

All the kind researchers and co-authors that I have encountered on my journey, who have so generously shared their time and great knowledge to help me with my work: Eric Wilander, Mats G Karlsson, Bengt Sorbe, Håkan Hedman, Marianne Farnebo, Elena Kashuba, Anders Näsman and Sabina Davidsson.

Centre of Clinical Research Västerås (CKF) for giving med the funds to proceed with this project when I was really on the brim of giving up! For always providing help and support when I have needed it and for welcoming me at CKF.

Leif Bergquist, my mentor, for taking time to listen to my concerns, for sharing your experiences in the world of research and for your good advice.

Philippe Wagner for invaluable help with the statistics, for letting me ask all my questions and didactic discussions.

Lena Ahlbin, for always believing in me, for trusting me, for giving me time and for swiping every obstacle the clinical work could have posed out of the way. Thank you for all the years as my boss. I still hope to inherit your raincoat.

Joakim Samuelsson, for being a supportive boss and for letting me take time to complete this thesis.

Marianne Ramström for being an unintentional mentor, for your support and encouragement not to give up research, and for giving me the best one-liners.

My dear **colleagues at Kvinnokliniken** for making the clinical work so much fun! If I would not have had the time with you in between the hours with this project I would never have been able to finish. Thank you for your support and encouragement.

Ivana Virijevic, my best partner in crime and roommate, for not giving up on me despite all my time spent on research, for sharing ups and downs in life without too many words, for patient consultations and the best moments in robotic surgery. Looking forward to spending some more time with you now!

Lovisa, Riina and Hanna – HPV and cervical cancer prevention is so much fun together with you! Thank for all support, help and good advice when no other help is to be found. Hoping this will continue in years to come.

Maja, for being a truly inspiring friend, outside the world of hospitals, health care and research, from Paris in 1993 to the wonderful cover of this thesis. Je t'adore!

Tina, for being there through all these years, for a friendship that will last through the winding paths of life. Thank you Tina, and **Emeli**, for encouragement through research and for sharing the best and unedited moments of life (through Whats-up).

Kia, Trine, Sara, Ylva and Ameli, Linköpingsbrudarna, always smarter, cooler and wiser than me, for the best of friendships through all these years. Thank you for being there and for your support when I have needed it the most. I hope to be there more often for you and with you from now on.

My great family, my very best people, both Nelander family and Ranhem family. The whole lot of you, and you are quite many, thank you for being there, for all the delicious food and all the good moments of life we enjoy together.

Erik, Johan, Karin and Eva, my dear, dear brothers and sisters. What would I be without your love and care in life?

My mother, mamma, for your role-model as an independent and competent woman, always close to a good laughter, and for your unconditional love for me and my sisters and brothers.

Theodor, Felicia and Zackarias, for making these last months' work durable. Still mesmerized over all the joy you bring me, every single day. I am so immensely grateful and proud to be your mother. You already know you mean the world to me.

Andreas - love of my life! Thank you for sharing your life with me, for having and holding me, for better, for worse. Now that this is done, I am so much looking forward to the life we are going to continue together, to our years to come. \heartsuit

8 **REFERENCES**

1. Hacker NF, Eifel PJ, van der Velden J. Cancer of the vagina. International journal of gynaecology and obstetrics: the official organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics. 2015;131 Suppl 2:S84-7.

2. World Health Organisation, International Agency for Research on C, Kurman RJ. WHO Classification of Tumours of Female Reproductive Organs. International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2014.

3. Adhikari P, Vietje P, Mount S. Premalignant and malignant lesions of the vagina. Diagnostic Histopathology. 2017;23(1):28-34.

4. Stein R, Ganeshan D, Gopireddy DR, Chaudhry A, Kumar S, Bande K, et al. Current update on vaginal malignancies. Abdom Radiol (NY). 2021;46(11):5353-68.

5. Hiniker SM, Roux A, Murphy JD, Harris JP, Tran PT, Kapp DS, et al. Primary squamous cell carcinoma of the vagina: prognostic factors, treatment patterns, and outcomes. Gynecologic oncology. 2013;131(2):380-5.

6. Hellman K, Silfversward C, Nilsson B, Hellstrom AC, Frankendal B, Pettersson F. Primary carcinoma of the vagina: factors influencing the age at diagnosis. The Radiumhemmet series 1956-96. International journal of gynecological cancer : official journal of the International Gynecological Cancer Society. 2004;14(3):491-501.

7. Current FIGO staging for cancer of the vagina, fallopian tube, ovary, and gestational trophoblastic neoplasia. International journal of gynaecology and obstetrics: the official organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics. 2009;105(1):3-4.

8. Adams TS, Rogers LJ, Cuello MA. Cancer of the vagina: 2021 update. International journal of gynaecology and obstetrics: the official organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics. 2021;155 Suppl 1:19-27.

9. Amin MB ES, Greene F, Byrd DR, Brookland RK, Washington MK, Gershenwald JE, Compton CC, Hess KR, et al. (Eds.). AJCC Cancer Staging Manual (8th edition). Springer International Publishing: American Joint Commission on Cancer. 2017.

10. Stewart BW, Wild C. World cancer report 2014. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2014.

11. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71(1):7-33.

12. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services CfDCaPaNCI. U.S. Cancer Statistics Working Group. U.S. Cancer Statistics Data Visualizations Tool, based on 2020 submission data (1999–2018) www.cdc.gov/cancer/dataviz

13. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71(3):209-49.

14. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394-424.

15. Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Today. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/cancers/22-Vagina-fact-sheet.pdf</u> accessed 7 February 2022.

16. Bray F, Laversanne M, Weiderpass E, Arbyn M. Geographic and temporal variations in the incidence of vulvar and vaginal cancers. International journal of cancer. 2020;147(10):2764-71.

17. Wu X, Matanoski G, Chen VW, Saraiya M, Coughlin SS, King JB, et al. Descriptive epidemiology of vaginal cancer incidence and survival by race, ethnicity, and age in the United States. Cancer. 2008;113(10 Suppl):2873-82.

18. Socialstyrelsen. Statistikdatabas för cancer https://sdb.socialstyrelsen.se/if_can/resultat.aspx

19. de Martel C, Plummer M, Vignat J, Franceschi S. Worldwide burden of cancer attributable to HPV by site, country and HPV type. International journal of cancer. 2017;141(4):664-70.

20. Human papillomaviruses. Lyon, France: World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2007.

21. Alemany L, Saunier M, Tinoco L, Quiros B, Alvarado-Cabrero I, Alejo M, et al. Large contribution of human papillomavirus in vaginal neoplastic lesions: a worldwide study in 597 samples. European journal of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990). 2014;50(16):2846-54.

22. Hellman K, Lindquist D, Ranhem C, Wilander E, Andersson S. Human papillomavirus, p16(INK4A), and Ki-67 in relation to clinicopathological variables and survival in primary carcinoma of the vagina. British journal of cancer. 2014;110(6):1561-70.

23. De Vuyst H, Clifford GM, Nascimento MC, Madeleine MM, Franceschi S. Prevalence and type distribution of human papillomavirus in carcinoma and intraepithelial neoplasia of the vulva, vagina and anus: a meta-analysis. International journal of cancer. 2009;124(7):1626-36.

24. de Martel C, Georges D, Bray F, Ferlay J, Clifford GM. Global burden of cancer attributable to infections in 2018: a worldwide incidence analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2020;8(2):e180-e90.

25. Larsson GL, Helenius G, Andersson S, Sorbe B, Karlsson MG. Prognostic impact of human papilloma virus (HPV) genotyping and HPV-16 subtyping in vaginal carcinoma. Gynecologic oncology. 2013;129(2):406-11.

26. Daling JR, Madeleine MM, Schwartz SM, Shera KA, Carter JJ, McKnight B, et al. A population-based study of squamous cell vaginal cancer: HPV and cofactors. Gynecologic oncology. 2002;84(2):263-70.

27. Plummer M, de Martel C, Vignat J, Ferlay J, Bray F, Franceschi S. Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2012: a synthetic analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2016;4(9):e609-16.

28. Ao M, Zheng D, Wang J, Gu X, Xi M. Risk factors analysis of persistence, progression and recurrence in vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia. Gynecologic oncology. 2021;162(3):584-9.

 Yu D, Qu P, Liu M. Clinical presentation, treatment, and outcomes associated with vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia: A retrospective study of 118 patients. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2021;47(5):1624-30.
 Bertoli HK, Thomsen LT, Iftner T, Dehlendorff C, Kjær SK. Risk of vulvar, vaginal and anal high-grade intraepithelial neoplasia and cancer according to cervical human papillomavirus (HPV) status: A populationbased prospective cohort study. Gynecologic oncology. 2020;157(2):456-62.

31. Strander B, Andersson-Ellstrom A, Milsom I, Sparen P. Long term risk of invasive cancer after treatment for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 3: population based cohort study. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2007;335(7629):1077.

32. Cervixcancerprevention - nationellt vårdprogram. 2021-04-13 [7 February 2022].

https://kunskapsbanken.cancercentrum.se/globalassets/vara-uppdrag/prevention-tidig-

upptackt/gynekologisk-cellprovskontroll/vardprogram/nationellt-vardprogram-cervixcancerprevention.pdf].

33. Sand FL, Munk C, Jensen SM, Svahn MF, Frederiksen K, Kjær SK. Long-Term Risk for Noncervical Anogenital Cancer in Women with Previously Diagnosed High-Grade Cervical Intraepithelial Neoplasia: A Danish Nationwide Cohort Study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2016;25(7):1090-7.

34. Alfonzo E, Holmberg E, Sparén P, Milsom I, Strander B. Risk of vaginal cancer among hysterectomised women with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: a population-based national cohort study. Bjog. 2020;127(4):448-54.

Alonso I, Felix A, Torne A, Fuste V, del Pino M, Castillo P, et al. Human papillomavirus as a favorable prognostic biomarker in squamous cell carcinomas of the vagina. Gynecologic oncology. 2012;125(1):194-9.
 Fuste V, del Pino M, Perez A, Garcia A, Torne A, Pahisa J, et al. Primary squamous cell carcinoma of the vagina: human papillomavirus detection, p16(INK4A) overexpression and clinicopathological correlations. Histopathology. 2010;57(6):907-16.

 Nwachukwu CR, Harris JP, Chin A, Von Eyben R, Giaretta S, Shaffer JL, et al. Prognostic Significance of P16 Expression and P53 Expression in Primary Vaginal Cancer. International journal of gynecological pathology : official journal of the International Society of Gynecological Pathologists. 2019;38(6):588-96.
 Habermann JK, Hellman K, Freitag S, Heselmeyer-Haddad K, Hellstrom AC, Shah K, et al. A recurrent gain of chromosome arm 3q in primary squamous carcinoma of the vagina. Cancer genetics and cytogenetics. 2004;148(1):7-13.

39. Hellman K, Alaiya AA, Becker S, Lomnytska M, Schedvins K, Steinberg W, et al. Differential tissuespecific protein markers of vaginal carcinoma. British journal of cancer. 2009;100(8):1303-14.

40. Gunderson CC, Nugent EK, Yunker AC, Rocconi RP, Graybill WS, Erickson BK, et al. Vaginal cancer: the experience from 2 large academic centers during a 15-year period. Journal of lower genital tract disease. 2013;17(4):409-13.

41. Hellman K, Lundell M, Silfversward C, Nilsson B, Hellstrom AC, Frankendal B. Clinical and histopathologic factors related to prognosis in primary squamous cell carcinoma of the vagina. International journal of gynecological cancer : official journal of the International Gynecological Cancer Society. 2006;16(3):1201-11.

42. Stein R, Ganeshan D, Gopireddy DR, Chaudhry A, Kumar S, Bande K, et al. Current update on vaginal malignancies. Abdom Radiol (NY). 2021.

43. Zhou W, Yue Y, Pei D. Survival benefit of vaginectomy compared to local tumor excision in women with FIGO stage I and II primary vaginal carcinoma: a SEER study. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2020;302(6):1429-39.

44. Gadducci A, Fabrini MG, Lanfredini N, Sergiampietri C. Squamous cell carcinoma of the vagina: natural history, treatment modalities and prognostic factors. Critical reviews in oncology/hematology. 2015;93(3):211-24.

45. Orton A, Boothe D, Williams N, Buchmiller T, Huang YJ, Suneja G, et al. Brachytherapy improves survival in primary vaginal cancer. Gynecologic oncology. 2016;141(3):501-6.

46. Westerveld H, Schmid MP, Nout RA, Chargari C, Pieters BR, Creutzberg CL, et al. Image-Guided Adaptive Brachytherapy (IGABT) for Primary Vaginal Cancer: Results of the International Multicenter RetroEMBRAVE Cohort Study. Cancers (Basel). 2021;13(6).

47. Rajagopalan MS, Xu KM, Lin JF, Sukumvanich P, Krivak TC, Beriwal S. Adoption and impact of concurrent chemoradiation therapy for vaginal cancer: a National Cancer Data Base (NCDB) study. Gynecologic oncology. 2014;135(3):495-502.

48. Zhou WL, Yue YY. Radiotherapy Plus Chemotherapy Is Associated With Improved Survival Compared to Radiotherapy Alone in Patients With Primary Vaginal Carcinoma: A Retrospective SEER Study. Front Oncol. 2020;10:570933.

49. Yagi A, Ueda Y, Kakuda M, Tanaka Y, Egawa-Takata T, Morimoto A, et al. Descriptive epidemiological study of vaginal cancer using data from the Osaka Japan population-based cancer registry: Long-term analysis from a clinical viewpoint. Medicine. 2017;96(32):e7751.

50. Louchini R, Goggin P, Steben M. The evolution of HPV-related anogenital cancers reported in Quebec - incidence rates and survival probabilities. Chronic Dis Can. 2008;28(3):99-106.

51. SEER*Explorer: An interactive website for SEER cancer statistics [Internet]. Surveillance Research Program NCICSAfhscg. [

52. Razzaghi H, Saraiya M, Thompson TD, Henley SJ, Viens L, Wilson R. Five-year relative survival for human papillomavirus-associated cancer sites. Cancer. 2018;124(1):203-11.

53. van der Aa MA, Helmerhorst TJ, Siesling S, Riemersma S, Coebergh JW. Vaginal and (uncommon) cervical cancers in the Netherlands, 1989-2003. International journal of gynecological cancer : official journal of the International Gynecological Cancer Society. 2010;20(4):638-45.

54. Bertoli HK, Baandrup L, Aalborg GL, Kjaer AK, Thomsen LT, Kjaer SK. Time trends in the incidence and survival of vaginal squamous cell carcinoma and high-grade vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia in Denmark - A nationwide population-based study. Gynecologic oncology. 2020;158(3):734-9.

55. Banas T, Pitynski K, Jach R, Knafel A, Ludwin A, Juszczyk G, et al. Primary Vulvo-Vaginal Cancers: Trends in Incidence and Mortality in Poland (1999-2012). Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2015;80(4):240-5.

56. Chikandiwa A, Pisa PT, Sengayi M, Singh E, Delany-Moretlwe S. Patterns and trends of HPV-related cancers other than cervix in South Africa from 1994-2013. Cancer Epidemiol. 2019;58:121-9.

57. Shah CA, Goff BA, Lowe K, Peters WA, 3rd, Li CI. Factors affecting risk of mortality in women with vaginal cancer. Obstetrics and gynecology. 2009;113(5):1038-45.

58. Beller U, Benedet JL, Creasman WT, Ngan HY, Quinn MA, Maisonneuve P, et al. Carcinoma of the vagina. FIGO 26th Annual Report on the Results of Treatment in Gynecological Cancer. International journal of gynaecology and obstetrics: the official organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics. 2006;95 Suppl 1:S29-42.

59. Chang JH, Jang WI, Kim YB, Kim JH, Kim YS, Kim YS, et al. Definitive treatment of primary vaginal cancer with radiotherapy: multi-institutional retrospective study of the Korean Radiation Oncology Group (KROG 12-09). J Gynecol Oncol. 2016;27(2):e17.

60. Huang J, Cai M, Zhu Z. Survival and prognostic factors in primary vaginal cancer: an analysis of 2004–2014 SEER data. Translational Cancer Research. 2020;9(11):7091-102.

61. Gospodarowicz M, O'Sullivan B. Prognostic factors in cancer. Semin Surg Oncol. 2003;21(1):13-8.

62. Riley RD, Sauerbrei W, Altman DG. Prognostic markers in cancer: the evolution of evidence from single studies to meta-analysis, and beyond. British journal of cancer. 2009;100(8):1219-29.

63. Marchiò C, Dowsett M, Reis-Filho JS. Revisiting the technical validation of tumour biomarker assays: how to open a Pandora's box. BMC Med. 2011;9:41.

64. Van Schaeybroeck S, Allen WL, Turkington RC, Johnston PG. Implementing prognostic and predictive biomarkers in CRC clinical trials. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2011;8(4):222-32.

65. Moons KG, Royston P, Vergouwe Y, Grobbee DE, Altman DG. Prognosis and prognostic research: what, why, and how? BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2009;338:b375.

66. McShane LM, Altman DG, Sauerbrei W, Taube SE, Gion M, Clark GM. Reporting recommendations for tumor marker prognostic studies (REMARK). J Natl Cancer Inst. 2005;97(16):1180-4.

67. Sauerbrei W, Taube SE, McShane LM, Cavenagh MM, Altman DG. Reporting Recommendations for Tumor Marker Prognostic Studies (REMARK): An Abridged Explanation and Elaboration. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2018;110(8):803-11.

68. Brunner AH, Grimm C, Polterauer S, Hefler L, Stani J, Heinze G, et al. The prognostic role of human papillomavirus in patients with vaginal cancer. International journal of gynecological cancer : official journal of the International Gynecological Cancer Society. 2011;21(5):923-9.

69. Platta CS, Anderson B, Geye H, Das R, Straub M, Bradley K. Adjuvant and definitive radiation therapy for primary carcinoma of the vagina using brachytherapy and external beam radiation therapy. J Contemp Brachytherapy. 2013;5(2):76-82.

70. Lian J, Dundas G, Carlone M, Ghosh S, Pearcey R. Twenty-year review of radiotherapy for vaginal cancer: an institutional experience. Gynecologic oncology. 2008;111(2):298-306.

71. Blecharz P, Reinfuss M, Ryś J, Jakubowicz J, Skotnicki P, Wysocki W. Radiotherapy for carcinoma of the vagina. Immunocytochemical and cytofluorometric analysis of prognostic factors. Strahlenther Onkol. 2013;189(5):394-400.

72. Pingley S, Shrivastava SK, Sarin R, Agarwal JP, Laskar S, Deshpande DD, et al. Primary carcinoma of the vagina: Tata Memorial Hospital experience. International journal of radiation oncology, biology, physics. 2000;46(1):101-8.

73. Frank SJ, Deavers MT, Jhingran A, Bodurka DC, Eifel PJ. Primary adenocarcinoma of the vagina not associated with diethylstilbestrol (DES) exposure. Gynecologic oncology. 2007;105(2):470-4.

74. Feldbaum VM, Flowers LC, Oprea-Ilies GM. Improved survival in p16-positive vaginal cancers across all tumor stages but no correlation with MIB-1. American journal of clinical pathology. 2014;142(5):664-9.

75. Hellman K, Johansson H, Andersson S, Pettersson F, Auer G. Prognostic significance of cell cycle- and invasion-related molecular markers and genomic instability in primary carcinoma of the vagina. International journal of gynecological cancer : official journal of the International Gynecological Cancer Society. 2013;23(1):41-51.

76. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000;100(1):57-70.

77. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646-74.

78. Mesri EA, Feitelson MA, Munger K. Human viral oncogenesis: a cancer hallmarks analysis. Cell Host Microbe. 2014;15(3):266-82.

79. Ostroumov D, Fekete-Drimusz N, Saborowski M, Kühnel F, Woller N. CD4 and CD8 T lymphocyte interplay in controlling tumor growth. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2018;75(4):689-713.

80. Krig SR, Frietze S, Simion C, Miller JK, Fry WH, Rafidi H, et al. Lrig1 is an estrogen-regulated growth suppressor and correlates with longer relapse-free survival in ERalpha-positive breast cancer. Molecular cancer research : MCR. 2011;9(10):1406-17.

81. Menon SS, Guruvayoorappan C, Sakthivel KM, Rasmi RR. Ki-67 protein as a tumour proliferation marker. Clin Chim Acta. 2019;491:39-45.

82. Cancer. IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, volume 100 B. A review of human carcinogens: Biological agents. 2012.

83. de Sanjosé S, Brotons M, Pavón MA. The natural history of human papillomavirus infection. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2018;47:2-13.

 Schiffman M, Khan MJ, Solomon D, Herrero R, Wacholder S, Hildesheim A, et al. A study of the impact of adding HPV types to cervical cancer screening and triage tests. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2005;97(2):147-50.
 Scott-Wittenborn N, Fakhry C. Epidemiology of HPV Related Malignancies. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2021;31(4):286-96.

86. Bouvard V, Baan R, Straif K, Grosse Y, Secretan B, El Ghissassi F, et al. A review of human carcinogens--Part B: biological agents. The Lancet Oncology. 2009;10(4):321-2.

87. Sinno AK, Saraiya M, Thompson TD, Hernandez BY, Goodman MT, Steinau M, et al. Human papillomavirus genotype prevalence in invasive vaginal cancer from a registry-based population. Obstetrics and gynecology. 2014;123(4):817-21.

88. Nygard M, Hansen BT, Dillner J, Munk C, Oddsson K, Tryggvadottir L, et al. Targeting human papillomavirus to reduce the burden of cervical, vulvar and vaginal cancer and pre-invasive neoplasia: establishing the baseline for surveillance. PloS one. 2014;9(2):e88323.

89. Rositch AF, Burke AE, Viscidi RP, Silver MI, Chang K, Gravitt PE. Contributions of recent and past sexual partnerships on incident human papillomavirus detection: acquisition and reactivation in older women. Cancer Res. 2012;72(23):6183-90.

90. Forman D, de Martel C, Lacey CJ, Soerjomataram I, Lortet-Tieulent J, Bruni L, et al. Global burden of human papillomavirus and related diseases. Vaccine. 2012;30 Suppl 5:F12-23.

91. Stanley M. Pathology and epidemiology of HPV infection in females. Gynecologic oncology. 2010;117(2 Suppl):S5-10.

92. Woodman CB, Collins SI, Young LS. The natural history of cervical HPV infection: unresolved issues. Nature reviews Cancer. 2007;7(1):11-22.

93. Oyervides-Muñoz MA, Pérez-Maya AA, Rodríguez-Gutiérrez HF, Gómez-Macias GS, Fajardo-Ramírez OR, Treviño V, et al. Understanding the HPV integration and its progression to cervical cancer. Infect Genet Evol. 2018;61:134-44.

94. Pett M, Coleman N. Integration of high-risk human papillomavirus: a key event in cervical carcinogenesis? J Pathol. 2007;212(4):356-67.

95. Hahn WC, Weinberg RA. Rules for making human tumor cells. N Engl J Med. 2002;347(20):1593-603.
96. Doorbar J, Quint W, Banks L, Bravo IG, Stoler M, Broker TR, et al. The biology and life-cycle of human papillomaviruses. Vaccine. 2012;30 Suppl 5:F55-70.

97. Ferber MJ, Thorland EC, Brink AA, Rapp AK, Phillips LA, McGovern R, et al. Preferential integration of human papillomavirus type 18 near the c-myc locus in cervical carcinoma. Oncogene. 2003;22(46):7233-42.
98. Ragin CC, Modugno F, Gollin SM. The epidemiology and risk factors of head and neck cancer: a focus on human papillomavirus. J Dent Res. 2007;86(2):104-14.

99. Wai KC, Strohl MP, van Zante A, Ha PK. Molecular Diagnostics in Human Papillomavirus-Related Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Cells. 2020;9(2).

100. Doorbar J, Griffin H. Refining our understanding of cervical neoplasia and its cellular origins. Papillomavirus Res. 2019;7:176-9.

101. Doorbar J. Host control of human papillomavirus infection and disease. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2018;47:27-41.

102. Hampl M, Wentzensen N, Vinokurova S, von Knebel-Doeberitz M, Poremba C, Bender HG, et al. Comprehensive analysis of 130 multicentric intraepithelial female lower genital tract lesions by HPV typing and p16 expression profile. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2007;133(4):235-45.

103. Stanley M. Host defence and persistent human papillomavirus infection. Curr Opin Virol. 2021;51:106-10.

104. Stanley MA. Epithelial cell responses to infection with human papillomavirus. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2012;25(2):215-22.

105. Joura EA, Giuliano AR, Iversen OE, Bouchard C, Mao C, Mehlsen J, et al. A 9-valent HPV vaccine against infection and intraepithelial neoplasia in women. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(8):711-23.

106. Bruni L, Saura-Lázaro A, Montoliu A, Brotons M, Alemany L, Diallo MS, et al. HPV vaccination introduction worldwide and WHO and UNICEF estimates of national HPV immunization coverage 2010-2019. Prev Med. 2021;144:106399.

107. Lei J, Ploner A, Elfström KM, Wang J, Roth A, Fang F, et al. HPV Vaccination and the Risk of Invasive Cervical Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2020;383(14):1340-8.

108. Falcaro M, Castañon A, Ndlela B, Checchi M, Soldan K, Lopez-Bernal J, et al. The effects of the national HPV vaccination programme in England, UK, on cervical cancer and grade 3 cervical intraepithelial neoplasia incidence: a register-based observational study. Lancet. 2021;398(10316):2084-92.

109. Kjaer SK, Dehlendorff C, Belmonte F, Baandrup L. Real-World Effectiveness of Human Papillomavirus Vaccination Against Cervical Cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2021;113(10):1329-35.

110. Hansen BT, Campbell S, Nygård M. Long-term incidence trends of HPV-related cancers, and cases preventable by HPV vaccination: a registry-based study in Norway. BMJ Open. 2018;8(2):e019005.

111. Hartwig S, St Guily JL, Dominiak-Felden G, Alemany L, de Sanjosé S. Estimation of the overall burden of cancers, precancerous lesions, and genital warts attributable to 9-valent HPV vaccine types in women and men in Europe. Infect Agent Cancer. 2017;12:19.

112. Klaes R, Friedrich T, Spitkovsky D, Ridder R, Rudy W, Petry U, et al. Overexpression of p16(INK4A) as a specific marker for dysplastic and neoplastic epithelial cells of the cervix uteri. International journal of cancer. 2001;92(2):276-84.

113. O'Neill CJ, McCluggage WG. p16 expression in the female genital tract and its value in diagnosis. Advances in anatomic pathology. 2006;13(1):8-15.

114. Wagner S, Prigge ES, Wuerdemann N, Reder H, Bushnak A, Sharma SJ, et al. Evaluation of p16(INK4a) expression as a single marker to select patients with HPV-driven oropharyngeal cancers for treatment deescalation. British journal of cancer. 2020;123(7):1114-22.

 Carrone A, Riganelli L, Savone D, Casorelli A, Merlino L, Pecorini F, et al. HPV-related vulvar diseases and perspectives of p16INK4a immunochemistry: a review of the literature. Tumori. 2017;103(6):511-5.
 Mendaza S, Fernández-Irigoyen J, Santamaría E, Zudaire T, Guarch R, Guerrero-Setas D, et al. Absence of Nuclear p16 Is a Diagnostic and Independent Prognostic Biomarker in Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Cervix. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(6).

117. Mellin Dahlstrand H, Lindquist D, Bjornestal L, Ohlsson A, Dalianis T, Munck-Wikland E, et al. P16(INK4a) correlates to human papillomavirus presence, response to radiotherapy and clinical outcome in tonsillar carcinoma. Anticancer research. 2005;25(6c):4375-83.

118. Reimers N, Kasper HU, Weissenborn SJ, Stutzer H, Preuss SF, Hoffmann TK, et al. Combined analysis of HPV-DNA, p16 and EGFR expression to predict prognosis in oropharyngeal cancer. International journal of cancer. 2007;120(8):1731-8.

119. Stephen JK, Divine G, Chen KM, Chitale D, Havard S, Worsham MJ. Significance of p16 in Site-specific HPV Positive and HPV Negative Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Cancer Clin Oncol. 2013;2(1):51-61.

120. Geisler SA, Olshan AF, Weissler MC, Cai J, Funkhouser WK, Smith J, et al. p16 and p53 Protein expression as prognostic indicators of survival and disease recurrence from head and neck cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2002;8(11):3445-53.

121. Sand FL, Nielsen DMB, Frederiksen MH, Rasmussen CL, Kjaer SK. The prognostic value of p16 and p53 expression for survival after vulvar cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Gynecologic oncology. 2019;152(1):208-17.

122. Sand FL, Rasmussen CL, Frederiksen MH, Andersen KK, Kjaer SK. Prognostic Significance of HPV and p16 Status in Men Diagnosed with Penile Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2018;27(10):1123-32.

123. Urbute A, Rasmussen CL, Belmonte F, Obermueller T, Prigge ES, Arbyn M, et al. Prognostic Significance of HPV DNA and p16(INK4a) in Anal Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2020;29(4):703-10.

124. Schwarz JK, Lewis JS, Jr., Pfeifer J, Huettner P, Grigsby P. Prognostic significance of p16 expression in advanced cervical cancer treated with definitive radiotherapy. International journal of radiation oncology, biology, physics. 2012;84(1):153-7.

125. Lewis JS, Jr., Beadle B, Bishop JA, Chernock RD, Colasacco C, Lacchetti C, et al. Human Papillomavirus Testing in Head and Neck Carcinomas: Guideline From the College of American Pathologists. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2018;142(5):559-97.

126. Prigge ES, von Knebel Doeberitz M, Reuschenbach M. Clinical relevance and implications of HPVinduced neoplasia in different anatomical locations. Mutat Res Rev Mutat Res. 2017;772:51-66.

127. Gerdes J, Schwab U, Lemke H, Stein H. Production of a mouse monoclonal antibody reactive with a human nuclear antigen associated with cell proliferation. International journal of cancer. 1983;31(1):13-20.
128. Li L, Mu K, Zhou G, Lan L, Auer G, Zetterberg A. Genomic instability and proliferative activity as risk factors for distant metastases in breast cancer. British journal of cancer. 2008;99(3):513-9.

129. Brown CA, Bogers J, Sahebali S, Depuydt CE, De Prins F, Malinowski DP. Role of protein biomarkers in the detection of high-grade disease in cervical cancer screening programs. J Oncol. 2012;2012:289315.
130. Peeters E, Wentzensen N, Bergeron C, Arbyn M. Meta-analysis of the accuracy of p16 or p16/Ki-67 immunocytochemistry versus HPV testing for the detection of CIN2+/CIN3+ in triage of women with minor abnormal cytology. Cancer Cytopathol. 2019;127(3):169-80.

131. Kruse AJ, Baak JP, de Bruin PC, van de Goot FR, Kurten N. Relationship between the presence of oncogenic HPV DNA assessed by polymerase chain reaction and Ki-67 immunoquantitative features in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. J Pathol. 2001;195(5):557-62.

132. Jiang P, Jia M, Hu J, Huang Z, Deng Y, Lai L, et al. Prognostic Value of Ki67 in Patients with Stage 1-2 Endometrial Cancer: Validation of the Cut-off Value of Ki67 as a Predictive Factor. Onco Targets Ther. 2020;13:10841-50.

133. Simion C, Cedano-Prieto ME, Sweeney C. The LRIG family: enigmatic regulators of growth factor receptor signaling. Endocrine-related cancer. 2014;21(6):R431-43.

134. Guo D, Holmlund C, Henriksson R, Hedman H. The LRIG gene family has three vertebrate paralogs widely expressed in human and mouse tissues and a homolog in Ascidiacea. Genomics. 2004;84(1):157-65.
135. Nilsson J, Vallbo C, Guo D, Golovleva I, Hallberg B, Henriksson R, et al. Cloning, characterization, and expression of human LIG1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2001;284(5):1155-61.

136. Holmlund C, Nilsson J, Guo D, Starefeldt A, Golovleva I, Henriksson R, et al. Characterization and tissue-specific expression of human LRIG2. Gene. 2004;332:35-43.

137. Hedman H, Henriksson R. LRIG inhibitors of growth factor signalling - double-edged swords in human cancer? European journal of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990). 2007;43(4):676-82.

138. Malik U, Javed A. LRIGs: A Prognostically Significant Family with Emerging Therapeutic Competence against Cancers. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2017;17(1):3-16.

139. Wang Y, Poulin EJ, Coffey RJ. LRIG1 is a triple threat: ERBB negative regulator, intestinal stem cell marker and tumour suppressor. British journal of cancer. 2013;108(9):1765-70.

140. Gur G, Rubin C, Katz M, Amit I, Citri A, Nilsson J, et al. LRIG1 restricts growth factor signaling by enhancing receptor ubiquitylation and degradation. Embo j. 2004;23(16):3270-81.

141. Laederich MB, Funes-Duran M, Yen L, Ingalla E, Wu X, Carraway KL, 3rd, et al. The leucine-rich repeat protein LRIG1 is a negative regulator of ErbB family receptor tyrosine kinases. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2004;279(45):47050-6.

142. Stutz MA, Shattuck DL, Laederich MB, Carraway KL, 3rd, Sweeney C. LRIG1 negatively regulates the oncogenic EGF receptor mutant EGFRVIII. Oncogene. 2008;27(43):5741-52.

143. Powell AE, Wang Y, Li Y, Poulin EJ, Means AL, Washington MK, et al. The pan-ErbB negative regulator Lrig1 is an intestinal stem cell marker that functions as a tumor suppressor. Cell. 2012;149(1):146-58.
144. Nilsson J, Starefeldt A, Henriksson R, Hedman H. LRIG1 protein in human cells and tissues. Cell Tissue Res. 2003;312(1):65-71.

145. Thomasson M, Hedman H, Ljungberg B, Henriksson R. Gene expression pattern of the epidermal growth factor receptor family and LRIG1 in renal cell carcinoma. BMC Res Notes. 2012;5:216.

146. Mao F, Holmlund C, Faraz M, Wang W, Bergenheim T, Kvarnbrink S, et al. Lrig1 is a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor gene in malignant glioma. Oncogenesis. 2018;7(2):13.

 Miller JK, Shattuck DL, Ingalla EQ, Yen L, Borowsky AD, Young LJ, et al. Suppression of the negative regulator LRIG1 contributes to ErbB2 overexpression in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2008;68(20):8286-94.
 Thomasson M, Wang B, Hammarsten P, Dahlman A, Persson JL, Josefsson A, et al. LRIG1 and the liar

paradox in prostate cancer: a study of the expression and clinical significance of LRIG1 in prostate cancer. International journal of cancer. 2011;128(12):2843-52.

149. Ljuslinder I, Golovleva I, Palmqvist R, Oberg A, Stenling R, Jonsson Y, et al. LRIG1 expression in colorectal cancer. Acta oncologica (Stockholm, Sweden). 2007;46(8):1118-22.

150. Ljuslinder I, Malmer B, Golovleva I, Thomasson M, Grankvist K, Höckenström T, et al. Increased copy number at 3p14 in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. 2005;7(5):R719-27.

151. Tanemura A, Nagasawa T, Inui S, Itami S. LRIG-1 provides a novel prognostic predictor in squamous cell carcinoma of the skin: immunohistochemical analysis for 38 cases. Dermatologic surgery : official publication for American Society for Dermatologic Surgery [et al]. 2005;31(4):423-30.

152. An Y, Zhao Z, Ou P, Wang G. Expression of LRIG1 is Associated With Good Prognosis for Human Nonsmall Cell Lung Cancer. Medicine. 2015;94(47):e2081.

153. Lindquist D, Nasman A, Tarjan M, Henriksson R, Tot T, Dalianis T, et al. Expression of LRIG1 is associated with good prognosis and human papillomavirus status in oropharyngeal cancer. British journal of cancer. 2014;110(7):1793-800.

154. Yang B, Dai C, Tan R, Zhang B, Meng X, Ye J, et al. Lrig1 is a positive prognostic marker in hepatocellular carcinoma. Onco Targets Ther. 2016;9:7071-9.

155. Rouam S, Moreau T, Broët P. Identifying common prognostic factors in genomic cancer studies: a novel index for censored outcomes. BMC Bioinformatics. 2010;11:150.

156. Lindquist D, Kvarnbrink S, Henriksson R, Hedman H. LRIG and cancer prognosis. Acta oncologica (Stockholm, Sweden). 2014;53(9):1135-42.

157. Xiao Q, Dong M, Cheng F, Mao F, Zong W, Wu K, et al. LRIG2 promotes the proliferation and cell cycle progression of glioblastoma cells in vitro and in vivo through enhancing PDGFRβ signaling. International journal of oncology. 2018;53(3):1069-82.

158. Hoesl C, Fröhlich T, Hundt JE, Kneitz H, Goebeler M, Wolf R, et al. The transmembrane protein LRIG2 increases tumor progression in skin carcinogenesis. Mol Oncol. 2019;13(11):2476-92.

Holmlund C, Haapasalo H, Yi W, Raheem O, Brännström T, Bragge H, et al. Cytoplasmic LRIG2 expression is associated with poor oligodendroglioma patient survival. Neuropathology. 2009;29(3):242-7.
Wang G, Wu J, Song H. LRIG2 expression and prognosis in non-small cell lung cancer. Oncol Lett. 2014;8(2):667-72.

161. Wu X, Hedman H, Bergqvist M, Bergström S, Henriksson R, Gullbo J, et al. Expression of EGFR and LRIG proteins in oesophageal carcinoma with emphasis on patient survival and cellular chemosensitivity. Acta oncologica (Stockholm, Sweden). 2012;51(1):69-76.

162. Ghasimi S, Haapasalo H, Eray M, Korhonen K, Brännström T, Hedman H, et al. Immunohistochemical analysis of LRIG proteins in meningiomas: correlation between estrogen receptor status and LRIG expression. J Neurooncol. 2012;108(3):435-41.

163. Zhao H, Tanegashima K, Ro H, Dawid IB. Lrig3 regulates neural crest formation in Xenopus by modulating Fgf and Wnt signaling pathways. Development. 2008;135(7):1283-93.

164. Guo D, Yang H, Guo Y, Xiao Q, Mao F, Tan Y, et al. LRIG3 modulates proliferation, apoptosis and invasion of glioblastoma cells as a potent tumor suppressor. J Neurol Sci. 2015;350(1-2):61-8.

165. Rafidi H, Mercado F, 3rd, Astudillo M, Fry WH, Saldana M, Carraway KL, 3rd, et al. Leucine-rich repeat and immunoglobulin domain-containing protein-1 (Lrig1) negative regulatory action toward ErbB receptor tyrosine kinases is opposed by leucine-rich repeat and immunoglobulin domain-containing protein 3 (Lrig3). The Journal of biological chemistry. 2013;288(30):21593-605. 166. Hayflick L. The illusion of cell immortality. British journal of cancer. 2000;83(7):841-6.

167. Katzenellenbogen R. Telomerase Induction in HPV Infection and Oncogenesis. Viruses. 2017;9(7).

168. Low KC, Tergaonkar V. Telomerase: central regulator of all of the hallmarks of cancer. Trends Biochem Sci. 2013;38(9):426-34.

Meier UT. The many facets of H/ACA ribonucleoproteins. Chromosoma. 2005;114(1):1-14.
 Filipowicz W, Pogacić V. Biogenesis of small nucleolar ribonucleoproteins. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2002;14(3):319-27.

171. Garus A, Autexier C. Dyskerin: an essential pseudouridine synthase with multifaceted roles in ribosome biogenesis, splicing, and telomere maintenance. Rna. 2021;27(12):1441-58.

172. Montanaro L, Calienni M, Bertoni S, Rocchi L, Sansone P, Storci G, et al. Novel dyskerin-mediated mechanism of p53 inactivation through defective mRNA translation. Cancer Res. 2010;70(11):4767-77.

173. Yoon A, Peng G, Brandenburger Y, Zollo O, Xu W, Rego E, et al. Impaired control of IRES-mediated translation in X-linked dyskeratosis congenita. Science. 2006;312(5775):902-6.

174. Bellodi C, Krasnykh O, Haynes N, Theodoropoulou M, Peng G, Montanaro L, et al. Loss of function of the tumor suppressor DKC1 perturbs p27 translation control and contributes to pituitary tumorigenesis. Cancer Res. 2010;70(14):6026-35.

175. Brazvan B, Ebrahimi-Kalan A, Velaei K, Mehdipour A, Aliyari Serej Z, Ebrahimi A, et al. Telomerase activity and telomere on stem progeny senescence. Biomed Pharmacother. 2018;102:9-17.

176. Kirwan M, Dokal I. Dyskeratosis congenita: a genetic disorder of many faces. Clin Genet. 2008;73(2):103-12.

177. Montanaro L, Brigotti M, Clohessy J, Barbieri S, Ceccarelli C, Santini D, et al. Dyskerin expression influences the level of ribosomal RNA pseudo-uridylation and telomerase RNA component in human breast cancer. J Pathol. 2006;210(1):10-8.

178. Sieron P, Hader C, Hatina J, Engers R, Wlazlinski A, Müller M, et al. DKC1 overexpression associated with prostate cancer progression. British journal of cancer. 2009;101(8):1410-6.

179. Mahmoudi S, Henriksson S, Weibrecht I, Smith S, Söderberg O, Strömblad S, et al. WRAP53 is essential for Cajal body formation and for targeting the survival of motor neuron complex to Cajal bodies. PLoS biology. 2010;8(11):e1000521.

180. Zhong F, Savage SA, Shkreli M, Giri N, Jessop L, Myers T, et al. Disruption of telomerase trafficking by TCAB1 mutation causes dyskeratosis congenita. Genes Dev. 2011;25(1):11-6.

181. Henriksson S, Farnebo M. On the road with WRAP53beta: guardian of Cajal bodies and genome integrity. Frontiers in genetics. 2015;6:91.

182. Venteicher AS, Abreu EB, Meng Z, McCann KE, Terns RM, Veenstra TD, et al. A human telomerase holoenzyme protein required for Cajal body localization and telomere synthesis. Science. 2009;323(5914):644-8.

183. Henriksson S, Rassoolzadeh H, Hedström E, Coucoravas C, Julner A, Goldstein M, et al. The scaffold protein WRAP53β orchestrates the ubiquitin response critical for DNA double-strand break repair. Genes Dev. 2014;28(24):2726-38.

184. Baghban R, Roshangar L, Jahanban-Esfahlan R, Seidi K, Ebrahimi-Kalan A, Jaymand M, et al. Tumor microenvironment complexity and therapeutic implications at a glance. Cell Commun Signal. 2020;18(1):59.
185. Anderson NM, Simon MC. The tumor microenvironment. Curr Biol. 2020;30(16):R921-r5.

186. Jurj A, Zanoaga O, Braicu C, Lazar V, Tomuleasa C, Irimie A, et al. A Comprehensive Picture of Extracellular Vesicles and Their Contents. Molecular Transfer to Cancer Cells. Cancers (Basel). 2020;12(2).
187. Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The three Es of cancer immunoediting. Annu Rev Immunol. 2004;22:329-60.

188. Tang Y, Zhang AXJ, Chen G, Wu Y, Gu W. Prognostic and therapeutic TILs of cervical cancer-Current advances and future perspectives. Mol Ther Oncolytics. 2021;22:410-30.

189. Borst J, Ahrends T, Bąbała N, Melief CJM, Kastenmüller W. CD4(+) T cell help in cancer immunology and immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2018;18(10):635-47.

190. Weinberg RA, ed. . The biology of cancer. Second ed. ed: Garland Science; 2014.

191. Sheu BC, Chang WC, Lin HH, Chow SN, Huang SC. Immune concept of human papillomaviruses and related antigens in local cancer milieu of human cervical neoplasia. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2007;33(2):103-13.

192. Litwin TR, Irvin SR, Chornock RL, Sahasrabuddhe VV, Stanley M, Wentzensen N. Infiltrating T-cell markers in cervical carcinogenesis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. British journal of cancer. 2021;124(4):831-41.

193. Komdeur FL, Prins TM, van de Wall S, Plat A, Wisman GBA, Hollema H, et al. CD103+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes are tumor-reactive intraepithelial CD8+ T cells associated with prognostic benefit and therapy response in cervical cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2017;6(9):e1338230.
194. Wang J, Li Z, Gao A, Wen Q, Sun Y. The prognostic landscape of tumor-infiltrating immune cells in cervical cancer. Biomed Pharmacother. 2019;120:109444.

195. van der Burg SH. Immunotherapy of human papilloma virus induced disease. Open Virol J. 2012;6:257-63.

196. van der Burg SH, Melief CJ. Therapeutic vaccination against human papilloma virus induced malignancies. Curr Opin Immunol. 2011;23(2):252-7.

197. Piersma SJ, Jordanova ES, van Poelgeest MI, Kwappenberg KM, van der Hulst JM, Drijfhout JW, et al. High number of intraepithelial CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes is associated with the absence of lymph node metastases in patients with large early-stage cervical cancer. Cancer Res. 2007;67(1):354-61.

198. Näsman A, Romanitan M, Nordfors C, Grün N, Johansson H, Hammarstedt L, et al. Tumor infiltrating CD8+ and Foxp3+ lymphocytes correlate to clinical outcome and human papillomavirus (HPV) status in tonsillar cancer. PloS one. 2012;7(6):e38711.

199. Wang Y, He M, Zhang G, Cao K, Yang M, Zhang H, et al. The immune landscape during the tumorigenesis of cervical cancer. Cancer Med. 2021;10(7):2380-95.

200. Bertoli HK, Rasmussen CL, Sand FL, Albieri V, Norrild B, Verdoodt F, et al. Human papillomavirus and p16 in squamous cell carcinoma and intraepithelial neoplasia of the vagina. International journal of cancer. 2019;145(1):78-86.

Smith JS, Backes DM, Hoots BE, Kurman RJ, Pimenta JM. Human papillomavirus type-distribution in vulvar and vaginal cancers and their associated precursors. Obstetrics and gynecology. 2009;113(4):917-24.
 Lei J, Ploner A, Lagheden C, Eklund C, Nordqvist Kleppe S, Andrae B, et al. High-risk human

papillomavirus status and prognosis in invasive cervical cancer: A nationwide cohort study. PLoS Med. 2018;15(10):e1002666.

203. Koyamatsu Y, Yokoyama M, Nakao Y, Fukuda K, Saito T, Matsukuma K, et al. A comparative analysis of human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 and expression of p53 gene and Ki-67 in cervical, vaginal, and vulvar carcinomas. Gynecologic oncology. 2003;90(3):547-51.

204. Cuschieri K, Brewster DH, Graham C, Nicoll S, Williams AR, Murray GI, et al. Influence of HPV type on prognosis in patients diagnosed with invasive cervical cancer. International journal of cancer. 2014;135(11):2721-6.

205. Serra S, Chetty R. p16. J Clin Pathol. 2018;71(10):853-8.

206. Mena M, Taberna M, Tous S, Marquez S, Clavero O, Quiros B, et al. Double positivity for HPV-DNA/p16(ink4a) is the biomarker with strongest diagnostic accuracy and prognostic value for human papillomavirus related oropharyngeal cancer patients. Oral Oncol. 2018;78:137-44.

207. Garnaes E, Frederiksen K, Kiss K, Andersen L, Therkildsen MH, Franzmann MB, et al. Double positivity for HPV DNA/p16 in tonsillar and base of tongue cancer improves prognostication: Insights from a large population-based study. International journal of cancer. 2016;139(11):2598-605.

208. Muller S, Flores-Staino C, Skyldberg B, Hellstrom AC, Johansson B, Hagmar B, et al. Expression of p16INK4a and MIB-1 in relation to histopathology and HPV types in cervical adenocarcinoma. International journal of oncology. 2008;32(2):333-40.

209. Hantschmann P, Lampe B, Beysiegel S, Kurzl R. Tumor proliferation in squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva. International journal of gynecological pathology : official journal of the International Society of Gynecological Pathologists. 2000;19(4):361-8.

210. Lindstrom AK, Hellberg D. Immunohistochemical LRIG3 expression in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and invasive squamous cell cervical cancer: association with expression of tumor markers, hormones, high-risk HPV-infection, smoking and patient outcome. European journal of histochemistry : EJH. 2014;58(2):2227.

211. Stefansson K, Oda H, Öfverman C, Lundin E, Hedman H, Lindquist D. LRIG1-2 and LMO7 immunoreactivity in vulvar squamous cell carcinoma: Association with prognosis in relation to HPV-DNA and p16INK4a status. Oncol Rep. 2019;42(1):142-50.

212. Hedman H, Lindstrom AK, Tot T, Stendahl U, Henriksson R, Hellberg D. LRIG2 in contrast to LRIG1 predicts poor survival in early-stage squamous cell carcinoma of the uterine cervix. Acta oncologica (Stockholm, Sweden). 2010;49(6):812-5.

213. Lindstrom AK, Ekman K, Stendahl U, Tot T, Henriksson R, Hedman H, et al. LRIG1 and squamous epithelial uterine cervical cancer: correlation to prognosis, other tumor markers, sex steroid hormones, and smoking. International journal of gynecological cancer : official journal of the International Gynecological Cancer Society. 2008;18(2):312-7.

214. Muller S, Lindquist D, Kanter L, Flores-Staino C, Henriksson R, Hedman H, et al. Expression of LRIG1 and LRIG3 correlates with human papillomavirus status and patient survival in cervical adenocarcinoma. International journal of oncology. 2013;42(1):247-52.

215. Yang HK, Chen H, Mao F, Xiao QG, Xie RF, Lei T. Downregulation of LRIG2 expression inhibits angiogenesis of glioma via EGFR/VEGF-A pathway. Oncol Lett. 2017;14(4):4021-8.

216. Zeng K, Chen X, Xu M, Liu X, Li C, Xu X, et al. LRIG3 represses cell motility by inhibiting slug via inactivating ERK signaling in human colorectal cancer. IUBMB Life. 2020;72(7):1393-403.

217. Alawi F, Lee MN. DKC1 is a direct and conserved transcriptional target of c-MYC. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;362(4):893-8.

Hou P, Shi P, Jiang T, Yin H, Chu S, Shi M, et al. DKC1 enhances angiogenesis by promoting HIF-1α transcription and facilitates metastasis in colorectal cancer. British journal of cancer. 2020;122(5):668-79.
O'Brien R, Tran SL, Maritz MF, Liu B, Kong CF, Purgato S, et al. MYC-Driven Neuroblastomas Are Addicted to a Telomerase-Independent Function of Dyskerin. Cancer Res. 2016;76(12):3604-17.

220. Bergstrand S, O'Brien EM, Farnebo M. The Cajal Body Protein WRAP53β Prepares the Scene for Repair of DNA Double-Strand Breaks by Regulating Local Ubiquitination. Front Mol Biosci. 2019;6:51.
221. Zhang H, Wang DW, Adell G, Sun XF. WRAP53 is an independent prognostic factor in rectal cancer- a

study of Swedish clinical trial of preoperative radiotherapy in rectal cancer patients. BMC Cancer. 2012;12:294.

222. Silwal-Pandit L, Russnes H, Borgen E, Skarpeteig V, Moen Vollan HK, Schlichting E, et al. The Sub-Cellular Localization of WRAP53 Has Prognostic Impact in Breast Cancer. PloS one. 2015;10(10):e0139965.
223. Garvin S, Tiefenböck K, Farnebo L, Thunell LK, Farnebo M, Roberg K. Nuclear expression of WRAP53β is associated with a positive response to radiotherapy and improved overall survival in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Oral Oncol. 2015;51(1):24-30.

224. Hedström E, Pederiva C, Farnebo J, Nodin B, Jirström K, Brennan DJ, et al. Downregulation of the cancer susceptibility protein WRAP53β in epithelial ovarian cancer leads to defective DNA repair and poor clinical outcome. Cell Death Dis. 2015;6(10):e1892.

225. Lont AP, Kroon BK, Horenblas S, Gallee MP, Berkhof J, Meijer CJ, et al. Presence of high-risk human papillomavirus DNA in penile carcinoma predicts favorable outcome in survival. International journal of cancer. 2006;119(5):1078-81.

226. Lohneis P, Boral S, Kaufmann AM, Lehmann A, Schewe C, Dietel M, et al. Human papilloma virus status of penile squamous cell carcinoma is associated with differences in tumour-infiltrating T lymphocytes. Virchows Arch. 2015;466(3):323-31.

227. Nedergaard BS, Ladekarl M, Thomsen HF, Nyengaard JR, Nielsen K. Low density of CD3+, CD4+ and CD8+ cells is associated with increased risk of relapse in squamous cell cervical cancer. British journal of cancer. 2007;97(8):1135-8.

228. Oguejiofor K, Hall J, Slater C, Betts G, Hall G, Slevin N, et al. Stromal infiltration of CD8 T cells is associated with improved clinical outcome in HPV-positive oropharyngeal squamous carcinoma. British journal of cancer. 2015;113(6):886-93.

229. Pillai RK, Jayasree K. Rare cancers: Challenges & issues. Indian J Med Res. 2017;145(1):17-27.
230. Gatta G, van der Zwan JM, Casali PG, Siesling S, Dei Tos AP, Kunkler I, et al. Rare cancers are not so rare: the rare cancer burden in Europe. European journal of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990).
2011;47(17):2493-511.

231. Castaneda CA, Castillo M, Torres-Cabala C, Bernabe LA, Casavilca S, Villegas V, et al. Relationship between tumor-associated immune infiltrate and p16 staining over clinicopathological features in acral lentiginous melanoma. Clin Transl Oncol. 2019;21(9):1127-34.

232. Kawai A, Higashi T, Shibata T, Yoshida A, Katoh Y, Fujiwara Y, et al. Rare cancers in Japan: definition, clinical features and future perspectives. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2020;50(9):970-5.

233. Casali PG, Bruzzi P, Bogaerts J, Blay JY. Rare Cancers Europe (RCE) methodological recommendations for clinical studies in rare cancers: a European consensus position paper. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(2):300-6.
234. Lee JJ. Demystify statistical significance--time to move on from the p value to bayesian analysis. J Natl

Cancer Inst. 2011;103(1):2-3. 235. Sharifnia T, Hong AL, Painter CA, Boehm JS. Emerging Opportunities for Target Discovery in Rare Cancers. Cell Chem Biol. 2017;24(9):1075-91.

 Torén W, Ansari D, Andersson R. Immunohistochemical investigation of prognostic biomarkers in resected colorectal liver metastases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Cell Int. 2018;18:217.
 Marchevsky AM, Walts AE, Lissenberg-Witte BI, Thunnissen E. Pathologists should probably forget about kappa. Percent agreement, diagnostic specificity and related metrics provide more clinically applicable measures of interobserver variability. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2020;47:151561.